

VISION 2023

Five-Year Vision Document For The Church of Pentecost Covering The Period 2018-2023

THEME: POSSESSING THE NATIONS

(Equipping the Church to Transform every Sphere of Society with Values and Principles of the Kingdom of God)

Copyright © The Church of Pentecost, 2019

Published by The Church of Pentecost.

ISBN: 978-9988-54-065-4

Printed by Pentecost Press Limited

All Rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrievable system, or transmitted in any form or by any means-electronic, mechanical, photocopy, recording or any other-except for brief quotation in printed reviews, without the prior permission of the publishers

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1.0 | INTRODUCTION | 7 |
|-------|--|----|
| 2.0 | EXECUTIVE SUMMARY | 9 |
| 3.0 | BACKGROUND OF VISION 2023 | 17 |
| 3.1 | Overall Goal | 18 |
| 3.2 | Strategic Objectives | 20 |
| 3.3 | Our Current Strengths | 21 |
| 3.4 | Strategic Approach | 22 |
| 4.0 | IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES | 27 |
| 4.1 | Equipping the Church to take the nations | 27 |
| 4.1.1 | The Local Church/Assembly | 27 |
| 4.1.2 | Intentional Discipleship Programme | 31 |
| 4.1.3 | Re-organising our Ministries | 35 |
| 4.1.4 | The Counselling Ministry | 42 |
| 4.1.5 | Prayer Centres | 44 |
| 4.2 | Transforming Society | 46 |
| 4.2.1 | Marriage and Family Life | 46 |
| 4.2.2 | Evangelism and Church Planting | 48 |
| 4.2.3 | Enhancing Church and State Relations | 52 |
| 4.2.4 | Possessing the Nations through Chaplaincy | 53 |
| 4.2.5 | Ministry to the Chieftaincy Institution | 57 |
| 4.2.6 | The Church and Socio-economic Development | 59 |
| 4.2.7 | Community Transformation | 62 |
| 4.2.8 | Ministry to Persons with Disabilities (PWDs) | 64 |
| 4.3 | Strengthening and Re-aligning Church | |
| | Institutions and Structures | 65 |
| 4.3.1 | Media Institutions and Outlets | 66 |

| Missions | 70 |
|---|--|
| Pentecost University College (PUC) | 76 |
| Pentecost Theological Seminary/Ministerial Training and Development | 78 |
| Pentecost Convention Centre (PCC) | 81 |
| Regional Coordinating Committees (RCCs) | 81 |
| Pentecost International Worship Centres (PIWCs) as Strategic Partners in Possessing the Nations | 82 |
| The Pension Board | 83 |
| Strengthening Ecumenical Relations | 84 |
| Projects and Infrastructural Development | 85 |
| General Headquarters Administration and Finance | 89 |
| Tertiary Educational Support for Ministers' Children | 91 |
| The Executive Council | 94 |
| General Council Meetings | 94 |
| IMPLEMENTATION FRAMEWORK FOR VISION 2023 | 96 |
| A MONITORING AND EVALUATION FRAMEWORK FOR VISION 2023 | 98 |
| FUNDING VISION 2023 | 99 |
| APPENDIX 1: Tenets, Vision and Mission Statements of The Church of Pentecost | 101 |
| APPENDIX 2: Indicators to Guage the Contribution of Vision 2023 to National Level | 105 |
| | 103 |
| Timing of Activities | 112 |
| | Pentecost Theological Seminary/Ministerial Training and Development Pentecost Convention Centre (PCC) Regional Coordinating Committees (RCCs) Pentecost International Worship Centres (PIWCs) as Strategic Partners in Possessing the Nations The Pension Board Strengthening Ecumenical Relations Projects and Infrastructural Development General Headquarters Administration and Finance Tertiary Educational Support for Ministers' Children The Executive Council General Council Meetings IMPLEMENTATION FRAMEWORK FOR VISION 2023 A MONITORING AND EVALUATION FRAMEWORK FOR VISION 2023 FUNDING VISION 2023 APPENDIX 1: Tenets, Vision and Mission Statements of The Church of Pentecost APPENDIX 2: Indicators to Guage the Contribution of Vision 2023 to National Level Indicators APPENDIX 3: The M&E Work Plan and |

SCRIPTURAL FOUNDATION

The following Biblical texts set out the foundation for Vision 2023 in its quest to possess the nations. The salvation of the nations is God's ultimate purpose for His creation. This the Church must avail itself to.

All the ends of the earth will remember and turn to the Lord and all the families of the nations will bow down before him, for dominion belongs to the Lord and he rules over the nations (Ps. 22:27-28, NIV).

May God be gracious to us and bless us and make his face shine on us so that your ways may be known on earth, your salvation among all nations. May the nations be glad and sing for joy, for you rule the peoples with equity and guide the nations of the earth (Ps. 67:1-2, 4, NIV).

The seventh angel sounded his trumpet, and there were loud voices in heaven, which said: "The kingdoms of the world have become the kingdom of our Lord and of his Messiah, and he will reign for ever and ever" (Rev. 11:15, NIV).

I became a servant of this gospel by the gift of God's grace given me through the working of his power. Although I am less than the least of all the Lord's people, this grace was given me: to preach to the Gentiles the boundless riches of Christ, and to make plain to everyone the administration of this mystery, which for ages past was kept hidden in God, who created all things. His intent was that now, through the Church, the manifold wisdom of God should be made known to the rulers and authorities

in the heavenly realms, according to his eternal purpose that he accomplished in Christ Jesus our Lord (Eph. 3: 7-11, NIV).

For though we live in the world, we do not wage war as the world does. The weapons we fight with are not the weapons of the world. On the contrary, they have divine power to demolish strongholds. We demolish arguments and every pretension that sets itself up against the knowledge of God, and we take captive every thought to make it obedient to Christ. And we will be ready to punish every act of disobedience, once your obedience is complete (2 Co. 10:3-6, NIV).

1.0 INTRODUCTION

I am very grateful to the Lord for giving me the privilege to serve Him in this high office as the Chairman of The Church of Pentecost. I am also grateful to the church for the confidence reposed in me for this task.

In the next five years covering the period from 2018 to 2023, The Church of Pentecost shall focus on the overarching vision of 'Possessing the Nations'. In this direction we shall concentrate on equipping ministers, officers and members of the church to transform every sphere of society with the values and principles of the Kingdom of God. This vision document, dubbed "Vision 2023", has been put together to spell out the rationale, descriptions of the situations, clear-cut strategies and actions including well-defined implementation and monitoring framework that will help us achieve the vision.

The process of completing this document involved personal retreats where I sought the Lord's guidance and direction for His church. It has also involved consultations with many stakeholders. I brainstormed with the members of the executive council and brought their inputs on board. I also consulted all the ministry directors, heads of departments and institutions as well as former chairmen, general secretaries and international missions directors. Some members and officers of our church were also consulted for their views and technical inputs and advice. Subsequently, the draft document was thoroughly discussed with all Heads at the 2018 November Heads' Meeting and again, with all ministers at the 2019 Global Ministers' Conference for further inputs.

These discussions and collaborative efforts were necessary to give all stakeholders including all ministers of the church the opportunity to own the vision. I am very grateful to all for contributing in various forms from various angles to develop this document to this point. Since this is now what we all have agreed to follow over the period, I appeal to all ministers, church officers and members to cooperate with us, as we pursue this noble cause of our Lord Jesus Christ.

May we all be strong and courageous as we brace ourselves up to be deployed to take the nations for our God.

May God continue to be with His church.

ERIC NYAMEKYE (APOSTLE) CHAIRMAN

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In the next five years, we shall be guided by an overarching theme, "Possessing the Nations", where we intend to equip the church to transform every sphere of society with values and principles of the Kingdom of God. Guided by our overall goal and strategic objectives, it is expected that the implementation of the vision strategy will have positive impacts on both the church itself and society as a whole within the next five years and beyond. We seek to contribute to a God-fearing society with hardworking and committed citizens; a society where there is the display of Christ-like behaviour and the demonstration of a high level of integrity; a society with a considerable reduction in social injustice, corruption, crime rate and other social vices; a society whose members are law-abiding citizens and where there is a reasonable reduction in wayward or deviant characters; a transformed society that is very concerned about the environment, keeping it clean and prompting others within the society to do same and a society where citizens in deprived communities have improved access to basic amenities.

At the national level (with specific reference to Ghana), the implementation of the vision strategy is expected to contribute to improvements in a number of socio-economic indicators. These include the following:

- a. Improvement in Ghana's 2018 score of 41 and ranking of 78/180 countries on the global Corruption Perception Index (CPI);
- A reduction in the incidence of physical violence against women and men from the 2015 levels of 8.9% for women and 10.2% for men;

- A reduction in the incidence of sexual violence against women and men from the 2015 levels of 10.6% for women and 9.5% for men;
- A reduction in the incidence of domestic violence against men and women from the 2015 level of 28% for women and 20% for men;
- e. A reduction in the rate of teenage pregnancy from the 2014 level of 14%;
- f. A reduction in theft, robbery and burglary cases from the 2013 level of 27.9%;
- g. An increase in the proportion of residents who "feel very safe" in their daily lives from the 2013 level of 66.2%;
- h. An increase in the percentage of households in rural areas using potable water from the 2016/2017 level of 73.6%;
- An increase in the percentage of households who dispose of their rubbish by taking it to a public dump site from the 2013 level of 52.4%; and
- A reduction in the percentage of adult population who think that the government never takes their views into account before changing laws from the 2013 level of 46.3%;
- k. An improvement in the 2013 level of educational attainment of: 44.6% of the population having below Basic Education Certificate Examination (BECE); 21% of the population having MSLC/BECE; and 14.7% having acquired Senior Secondary School (SSS) or Senior High School (SHS) or a higher level of education; and

 An improvement in the level of access to health facilities (household members who reported suffering from an injury or illness in the past two weeks and consulted a health practitioner for health care) from the 2013 level of 66.2%

At the level of the church, the implementation of the vision strategy is expected to lead to the following specific outcomes by the end of December, 2023:

- a. At least 75% of adult members of the church worldwide will be able to demonstrate understanding of the dual purpose of the church;
- Consistent and systematic discipleship programme will be effectively carried out in at least 75% of the local assemblies;
- At least 75% of adult members of the church in all spheres of life will play an active role as agents of transformation in our societies;
- d. The operations of all (100%) functional departments, units, ministries, boards, committees and training institutions within the church will have been aligned to the overall goal of Vision 2023 – possessing the nations;
- e. Overall membership of the church will have increased by at least 32% over the 2018 membership;
- f. At least 75% of members will have their homes rendered transformative arena for societal impact and transformation;
- g. The frequency and number of both church and ministry meetings will have been reduced by at least 70% to

- enable members find more time to effectively minister to God, to each other, to society and to the church;
- h. Annual and Half-year reports of all (100%) areas, districts, local assemblies, functional departments, ministries, boards, committees and training institutions within the church capture the expected results (outputs and intermediate outcomes) from the Vision 2023 implementation process.

In furtherance of the pursuit of our short, medium and longterm objectives,

- a. We shall be committed to building the local church as a measured-up strategy for equipping the church to possess the nations. A conscious effort will therefore be made to make the local church an equipping centre, where members are oriented and equipped to possess the nations.
- b. We shall be committed to instituting an intentional discipleship programme to prepare our members for societal impact and transformation. This programme shall take into consideration well-defined discipleship interventions such as family-based discipleship, personaloriented discipleship, and local church (assembly) discipleship.
- c. We shall be committed to realigning the activities of the various ministries of the church to feed into the Vision 2023 agenda of the church. Efforts shall also be made to review their mode of operation to reflect the current spiritual and socio-economic needs and aspirations of the people they are called to minister to.

- d. We shall be committed to re-organising the church's counselling services to be accessible to all members at all levels. The Counselling Unit will also be made to expand its scope to address mental health and other related issues such as grief/depression/anxiety, suicidal crisis; domestic violence and abuse; financial and social problems; chronic health problems; families struggling with transitions/crisis, etc.
- e. We shall be committed to rendering the home a transformative arena for societal impact and transformation. This will be done with the understanding that the relationship between husband and wife is more than a commitment between two persons; it is a three-sided relationship consisting of husband, wife and God.
- f. As God's instruments for the Great Commission, we shall be committed to intensifying evangelism, church planting and discipleship at all levels of the church. Planting of new churches in unreached areas shall be pursued in all earnest.
- g. We shall be committed to rolling out programmes to strategically engage/disciple the nation's existing governance structures (the Executive, Judiciary and Legislature) within the framework of fulfilling our prophetic responsibility to the nation. Ministry to politicians as well as raising leaders for the nation's governance structures will therefore be given special attention.
- h. We shall be committed to providing chaplaincy services which will include hospital/hospice chaplaincy, sports chaplaincy, first attender/emergency services chaplaincy

- and chaplaincy to widows, widowers, the aged, orphans and refugees or migrants.
- i. We shall be committed to intensifying ministry to the palace through the formation of working groups at all levels to minister to the chieftaincy institution.
- j. We shall be committed to embarking on strategic partnerships with government in developing the nation. We will as a result, refocus and restructure and reposition PENTSOS to work effectively as a development-oriented organisation as well as a corporate organisation cast in the mode of other faithbased development organisations.
- k. We shall be committed to positioning the local church as an agent for community transformation through its active involvement in community development.
- Considering the background that persons with disabilities remain a large neglected mission field, we shall be committed to strengthening ministry to this neglected mission field.
- m. We shall be committed to restructuring and empowering the media outlets of the church to propagate the gospel, disciple members of the church and contribute to the transformation of society.
- n. We shall be committed to strengthening our mission fronts and exploring other strategies to enable us increase our presence in the nations. Our target is not just to be present in a nation but that our presence would be felt as we impact the land with the values and principles of the Kingdom of God.

- o. The Pentecost University College will continue to be assisted to become a university of choice in Ghana, where excellent graduates will be produced to meet the needs and challenges of the fast-changing world. It will be considered a unique mission field of the church with the aim of leading students to the Lord Jesus Christ, discipling and equipping them to possess the nations.
- p. The Pentecost Theological Seminary (PTS) will be assisted to strengthen ministerial formation, refresher courses, higher theological education and missionary training for the church. This will help to provide ministers with the needed opportunities to study, practise and develop capacities for effective ministry.
- q. The Pentecost Convention Centre (PCC) will continue to provide Christian-centered hospitality services with excellence, while making efforts to expand the facilities at the Centre.
- r. The Regional Coordinating Committees shall continue to be empowered and given more room to effectively carry out their constitutionally assigned mandate, especially in providing effective supervisory role at the grassroots level.
- s. We shall be committed to harnessing the resourceful human capital of the PIWCs in order to extend the impact of the Kingdom to all spheres of society and the nations.
- t. We shall be committed to enhancing the activities of the Pension Board in fulfilling its constitutional mandate.

- u. We shall be committed to deepening fraternal relationships with other Christian churches and parachurch organisations across the globe. This is aimed at contributing to the call for a renewed community of believers consumed with the zeal of the Lord to promote values and principles of the Kingdom of God within the global community.
- v. We shall be committed to accelerating the provision of a conducive worship environment for all our local assemblies, as well as ensuring that all our building projects meet the value for money requirement, and are compliant with construction standards and local statutory requirements.
- w. We shall be committed to improving the administration and finance functions of the church to a level that can withstand contemporary challenges of organisational structures.
- x. The Executive Council shall be committed to serving the church wholeheartedly and with integrity in the fear of the Lord, as mandated. Again, efforts shall be made to make the General Council more functional.
- y. We shall be committed to adopting both biblical and best practices to improve our finances in order to mobilise the needed financial resources for the expected outputs of Vision 2023.

3.0 BACKGROUND OF VISION 2023

The theme for Vision 2023 is "Possessing the Nations: Equipping the Church to Transform Every Sphere of Society with Values and Principles of the Kingdom of God". 'Possessing or taking nations' is an ancient military phrase, which meant replacing the rule or reign of a nation with that of another through conquest. Relating this term to the Great Commission inspires us to raise an army of Christians who, being filled with the Holy Spirit and fully equipped with the knowledge of God's word, will engage and transform their societies with Godly values and principles, wherever they are and in whatever they do, in order to win many for Christ and transform them into salt and light of the world (Eph. 3:10; Col. 1:13; Mt. 5:13-16).

The values and principles of the Kingdom of God in this context entail teachings about Christ that define the Christian as the light and salt of the world, imbued with Godly attributes such as love, integrity, patience, hard work, honesty and faithfulness (Mt. 5:13-16; Php. 2:15; Ga. 5:22-24).

This document seeks to throw light on the spirit and focus of the theme, highlighting the key elements embedded within the theme as well as the implementation strategies for achieving the vision. It highlights what we want to see both in the church and in society in five years' time. It also explains the gap between our goal and the existing current situation as far as the church and society are concerned. Again, it shows what we need to do in order to bridge the gap between our goal and the status quo. The strategic positioning of The Church of Pentecost, it's human, material and spiritual endowments have all been stated to show how we plan to leverage our

current strengths to take advantage of existing and future opportunities in possessing the nations.

The Church of Pentecost is an international church with a global coverage. We have one vision that must guide our activities around the world over this period. But it is impracticable in this document to list specific interventions that are relevant and appropriate for all societies and communities in the nations where we operate. Many of the specific community interventions in this document relate to the activities of the mother church in Ghana. In a similar manner, the churches in the Mission areas are expected to use the spirit of the vision to explore community interventions that are relevant in their respective societies to ensure that we take the nations for Christ.

3.1 Overall Goal

Building on what has been achieved by previous leadership, we foresee a refreshed church that equips and releases its members into ministry as agents of transformation wherever they may be. The overall goal is a church where members go to possess their nations by transforming every worldview, thought and behaviour with values, principles and lifestyles of the Kingdom of God and thereby turning many people to Christ.

Guided by a very important statement made by Roger Hell and that, "an unrestricted vision causes havoc and that churches must be strategic in what wars they fight and when they fight them", we have carefully examined this vision in the light of our church's overarching vision, mission, tenets, core values and practices. These have been outlined in the appendix.

3.2 The Gap Analysis

In spite of our church's impressive achievements over the years, there is a lot more to be done. Our societies are still influenced by worldviews, thoughts and arguments which contradict the knowledge of God. Taking Ghana for instance, according to the 2010 Population and Housing Census, 71.2% of Ghanaians claim to be Christians. As evidence to this, churches including The Church of Pentecost are scattered along the length and breadth of the nation. However, in spite of the presence of these churches in our societies, Christianity has not yet impacted the society adequately in a way that eliminates endemic corruption and the rampant social mishaps to reflect the huge Christian presence in the country. A quote from a columnist published in the Daily Graphic (a Ghanaian newspaper) on 4th September, 2018, page 49 gives some credence to this reality.

Crime today in our society is on the ascendency, marriages are collapsing, indiscipline in our society is at worrying levels, glaring despair on the faces of many but most of the perpetrators of the crime and or the victims are in their homes, markets, ghettos etc. who are to be reached in their locations in an effort to win souls for Christ.

It is not that God does not have the power to accomplish the redemption of the nations. Indeed, His great love does not fall short of this goal. Rather, many churches' lack of understanding of God's purpose for the Church keeps the nations bound in darkness to false religions, lust for power, greed and all forms of evil. False teachings confuse many Christians and thus frustrate their witness.

Faced with similar situations, Bible characters such as Moses and Elijah as well as Church and social reformers including

Martin Luther and John Wesley, had a national focus. They were purposed on bringing their nations under the rule of God. These preachers were considered as God's divine agents ordained to reform the nations, and to spread Biblical holiness across the nations.

As a church, it is time for us to focus a lot more attention on the practice of being God's representative on earth. The Church has to focus on being salt and light in this perverse world in order to transform the spiritual, social, economic and political fabric of the nations. We believe that the destiny of our nations is in the hands of the Churches.

3.3 Strategic Objectives

The transformation agenda of Vision 2023 demands the efficient and effective implementation of well-designed interventions in order to fulfil the requirements of the Great Commission. For this reason, the broad strategic objectives in pursuit of our goal of possessing/taking the nations and turning many people to Christ include the following:

- a. To teach our members to understand the dual purpose of the Church (i.e. the church is called out of the world to belong to God and sent back to the world to witness and to serve).
- b. To equip our members with the knowledge of God's word for ministry;
- To create the awareness that whatever a person does in any aspect of life is an opportunity and a setting for ministry;
- d. To deploy our members to transform their societies and take the nations for Christ;

- e. To further strengthen existing institutions and structures of our church and realign their activities to drive Vision 2023;
- f. To undertake structural adjustments to get the church system freed from crowded programmes in order to release members to witness and to serve beyond the church;
- g. To strengthen existing institutions and structures to continually assess the effectiveness of interventions aimed at achieving the objectives of Vision 2023 (accountability).

3.4 Our Current Strengths

By the grace of God, The Church of Pentecost has defied all odds and grown globally to become one of the major players in world Christianity today. The church has a strong spiritual foundation, governance structure and effective leadership. Our administrative structures have been strengthened over the past years and are able to guide and guard us in possessing the nations for Christ.

The church is present in most communities in Ghana and in many other countries. The majority of the church membership is youth (below 36 years), energetic and poised to take the nations. We have growing human and material resources around the world available to be harnessed for the Kingdom business. We also have very functional departments (ministries, boards, committees and training institutions) to facilitate the ministry of the church in every fabric of society.

Moreover, there is evidence that God has given The Church of Pentecost a leadership role in Ghanaian Christianity as well as in the Ghanaian society.

Also, we are gaining respect in world Christianity; thanks to the good leadership of our predecessors. The size of our church and the resources we have been blessed with should become the means by which we can play a significant role to bring all nations under the influence of the values and principles of the Kingdom of God.

3.5 Strategic Approach

Vision 2023 is an attempt to challenge the church to leave the building. We must move beyond seeing Sunday services as the arena for serving God. If we hope to make a difference in a hopeless world, our church must send our people and the people must go and take the nations for Christ (Ro. 10:13-15; 15:20, 21, Jn. 20:21).

We do not mean to imply that it is wrong for ministries to take place inside church buildings. People teaching Sunday schools, leading Bible study or singing in the choir meet the needs of the body of Christ. However, these internal ministries are not sufficient to fulfil the Great Commission completely. If the work of the Church is what is done within the institution (Local Church), only a small number of members will ever have the opportunity to do the work that God has birthed the Church to do on earth.

We will, therefore, adopt a three-pronged approach as our strategy to take possession of the nations in the short, medium and long term. The strategy includes:

(i) Equipping members of the Church with the required resources;

- (ii) Sending our members out as channels through which God's divine resources will flow to meet the needs and helplessness of our society and transform it;
- (iii) Strengthening and re-aligning existing institutions and structures to serve as implementation units and also to provide the enabling environment for the achievement of Vision 2023.

Details of our three-pronged strategy are described below.

3.5.1 Equipping the Church to take the nations

The Church has never been the focus of the Great Commission. The Great Commission is expected to happen outside the Church. But the Church has always been the most important tool for carrying out the Great Commission (Mt. 28:18-20; Ro. 10:13-15; 1 Ti. 3:14, 15). It is the primary vessel God uses to train and equip His people for ministry (Eph. 4:11-16).

The Church, is therefore, to train Christians to be Christ-like and to embody Him and His principles, so that in everyday life we may operate from a godly perspective. That is why we preach, teach and worship. When Christians change the goal of the Church and make it a place of conservation and escape rather than equipping and sending (Jn 20:21), we are working against the Great Commission. We may be holding God's workers instead of deploying them to transform the society and take nations for Christ. We have to equip them to join Jesus in the incredible mission of disciple making (Lk. 4:18, 19; Eph. 2:10).

The purpose of equipping the Church is for doing ministry. True ministry is not limited to the five-fold ministry or pulpit ministry.

For example, in The Church of Pentecost with worldwide adult membership of 2,226,488 and total clergy of 2,386 (according to our 2017 statistics), one can conclude that if the work of the ministry is left with the clergy alone, about 99.9% of our church population will be rendered redundant. The purpose of pulpit ministry is to help people discover their God-given abilities and be equipped to be effective in their own sphere of influence.

We need to be intentional about the purpose of every believer being like yeast and influencing the contexts in which they find themselves until they have transformed it to reflect the glory of God (Mt. 13:33). Understanding the priority and purpose of the Church is necessary for equipping Christians and sending them to affect the spiritual and moral darkness in our societies.

If our members are well-equipped and intentionally released into the nations, the spiritual and social capital we have inherited and the material resources we have at our disposal are likely to touch the communities of the world, bringing a great multitude under the rule of the Kingdom of God.

3.5.2 Transforming Society

The church has a dual purpose. On one hand, we are called out of the world to belong to God, and on the other, we are sent back to the world to witness and to serve (Tit 2:14, Jn. 17:15,16). A strong church is the one that looks at human life holistically and does not separate the secular from the sacred. We therefore need to revise our theology so that our members in all spheres of life will see their role as agents of transformation in our societies. It is only then that we can expect our members to serve God and humanity with whatever they do (1 Co. 10:31). In this way, every sphere of society

such as the family, government, politics, business/economy, education/science, media/culture and sports become a setting for ministry.

In order for the glory of God to fill all the earth, it is necessary that the truth and the principles of His Kingdom become pillars on which all of society rests (1 Tim. 3:15). Every member of the church will therefore be encouraged to see himself or herself as an agent of transformation in every sphere of his or her involvement in society. The slogan "I am an agent of transformation" will be the watchword.

The Church in the book of Acts gathered to magnify the goodness of the exalted King, but they understood by the influence of the Holy Spirit that their task was to leave the building. Their lives were so radically transformed by the gospel that they did not see their faith as restricted to a place. As a result, the Church grew exponentially.

It is therefore the objective of Vision 2023 to equip and send our members to position themselves in their spheres of influence and be channels of love through whom God's divine resources will flow to meet the needs and helplessness of our societies. This would happen only if we intentionally equip people to be true witnesses in every institution, living out and standing for the values and principles of the Kingdom of God in those spheres of life – thus, possessing our nations.

We have to penetrate other people's worlds as Jesus penetrated ours: the world of their thinking, the world of their feeling, the world of their living. This costly entry into other people's worlds however is not to be undertaken at the cost of our own Christian integrity. We are called to maintain the standards of Jesus Christ untarnished.

VISION 2023 _______ 25

3.5.3 Strengthening and Re-aligning Church Institutions and Structures

Over the years, the church has developed a formidable institutional and governance structure made up of functional departments, ministries, boards, committees and training institutions to facilitate the ministry of the church. Our efforts to possess the nations will however require that our institutions and structures are further strengthened and their activities realigned to drive the Vision to its fulfilment.

There is also the need for freshness in the spiritual life of the church (COP). This freshness, among other ways, can be achieved when the church structures are freed from crowded programmes. This will help release the members to effectively minister to God, to each other, to the society and to the church.

The Monitoring and Evaluation Unit will be strengthened to play a coordinating role in the following areas: observing implementation schedules and delivery of outputs and evaluation of the effectiveness and impacts of planned interventions aimed at achieving the objectives of Vision 2023.

4.0 IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES

In line with the broad strategic objectives, the various facets of The Church of Pentecost will be targeted for phased interventions. This section of the Vision Document provides details of the three-pronged approach to taking possession of the nations and the specific actions to be undertaken for the relevant facets of the church to be targeted for intervention. It is however important to note again that some of the recommended actions are Ghana specific and may not be applicable to other nations. Where constitutional issues are also involved, we shall follow the due procedures.

4.1 Equipping the Church to Take the Nations

This strategic approach focuses on the proposed actions to be taken to equip the church to fulfil its dual purpose in specific focal areas. The targeted focal areas are: The local Church, Intentional Discipleship Programme, Re-organising our Ministries, The Counselling Ministry and Prayer Centres.

4.1.1 The Local Church / Assembly

i. Overview (Eph. 4:11-16; 1 Pe. 1:5-8; 2 Pe. 1:5-6)

Building the local church as a measured-up strategy for equipping the church to possess the nations is a major focus of Vision 2023. This is premised on the understanding that the local church is the church's focal point for most of its spiritual life and development activities. Thus, it serves as the point where believers are trained and discipled to project Christ to the world. A conscious effort will therefore be made to make the local church an equipping centre, where members are oriented and equipped to possess the nations. In creating the enabling environment for these to be appropriated, special

attention will be given to developing the leadership base at the local church.

Specific Objectives

- a. To develop and strengthen the leadership base at the local church.
- b. To make the local church a centre for equipping members to possess the nations.

ii. Actions to be taken

The Local Assembly/Church

- a. The local church will be taught through Bible studies, seminars and sermons to understand the dual purpose of the Church (i.e. the church has been called out of the world to belong to God and sent back to the world to witness and to serve).
- b. The local church shall be oriented on existing worldviews and philosophies such as secular humanism, atheism, hedonism, etc., that contradict the values and principles of the Kingdom of God and equipped through conferences and seminars to address these worldviews and philosophies within their spheres of influence.
- c. The local church will be made aware that she is God's new society, the living embodiment of the gospel and a visible sign of the Kingdom of God.
- d. The local church will be organised to be seeker friendly. In furtherance to this, the church's seating arrangement and other practices may be considered for modification to make the church more welcoming to outsiders.

- e. Ushering/protocolling during church services shall be given special attention.
- f. The Lord's Supper day shall continue to be a solemn service. Songs on the blood of Jesus and reflection on the work of the cross will continue to be the focus on this day.
- g. The Sunday morning service after the Lord's Supper day will be designated as "Gospel Sunday" worldwide. The Gospel Sunday will be dedicated to the preaching of the gospel and soul wining.
- Every church member will be required to do the work of an evangelist and to see him or herself as an agent of transformation.
- Every member shall be an automatic member of the Evangelism Ministry in addition to being a member of at least one of the other ministries.
- j. Holy Spirit baptism and infilling will be intensified in all our local assemblies worldwide. In view of this, Ministers and Presiding Elders are required to conduct Holy Ghost sessions at least once in a month.
- k. Officers and members will continue to be encouraged to exercise their spiritual gifts at the local level.
- I. The local church shall be a house of prayer and a place of sound biblical teaching.
- The local assembly prayer days shall be pursued in all earnest.
- n. Discipleship in the local church will be made intentional and vigorous.

- o. Career advisory and counselling services at the local church shall be intensified.
- p. Fellowships and visitations to backsliders will be intensified.
- q. The local church will be required to attend to some social needs of the local community.
- r. The need to maintain holiness as a core value of the church will be given special attention in all our activities.
- s. Decency and modesty will be upheld by every member of the Church.
- t. Excessive noise making during church services, especially in all-night prayer sessions, shall be discouraged. Our churches will be encouraged to comply with the by-laws on noise making in their respective communities.

The presiding elder

- a. The presiding elder is key to the development of the local church. For this reason, he will carefully be selected.
- b. Presiding elders will be offered periodic training to equip them to lead the flock well so as to build a good church.
- c. The Presiding elder will be required to organise the members for service to the church and the community.
- d. The District Minister through the local presbytery shall carry out an annual performance appraisal of the Presiding Elder to ensure that desired performance objectives are being met at the local level.
- e. Periodic review of presiding elders will be consciously and pro-actively done. This shall be done within the framework of the constitution.

The local presbytery

- a. The local presbytery shall be required to hold meetings once in a month to evaluate the operations of the local assembly. Minutes books and other church records shall be inspected regularly by Area Heads and District Ministers in this regard.
- Area Heads/District Ministers/Presiding Elders will be required to conduct regular training programmes for members of the presbytery.

4.1.2 Intentional Discipleship Programme

i. Overview (Mt. 28:18-20; 1 Ti. 3:14-15; Jn. 8:31-32)

An intentional discipleship programme is vital in equipping the saints for societal transformation and impact. This programme shall take into consideration well-defined discipleship interventions such as family-based discipleship, personal-oriented discipleship and local church (assembly) discipleship. These forms of discipleship shall seek to position our members to reflect and advance the values and principles of the Kingdom of God in whatever sphere of society they may find themselves.

The early Church has left us an example of how they succeeded in influencing their generation through their lifestyle and the preaching of the gospel (Ac. 2:42-47). Vision 2023 envisages that this can happen in our time through effective discipleship interventions. In Ghana, the National Discipleship and Leadership Development Committee (NDLDC) will be tasked to spearhead and facilitate this discipleship programme with a clearly spelt out operational framework, accompanied with a practical monitoring and evaluation mechanism. Our Mission areas will also be required to replicate this in their respective nations.

Specific objectives

- a. To institute an intentional discipleship programme to prepare our members for societal impact and transformation.
- To position and re-orientate our members to practise the values and principles of the Kingdom of God in whatever sphere of society they may find themselves.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. The church shall be committed to transforming the Bible Study groups to become discipleship groups so as to augment the pastoral care system in the church. Bible Study leaders shall visit group members at their homes and work places, where feasible, to encourage them in the faith.
- We shall be committed to developing a new module for equipping Bible Study leaders and Cell leaders.
- c. To ensure maximum participation of members, Bible Study meetings shall preferably be held after worship.
- d. We shall use the Home Cell system as a platform for impacting communities. In view of this, our home cells will be made community-friendly. For instance, issues to be discussed or topics to be treated should be of relevance to how we can serve the community. The NDLDC will provide the guide. Home cell meetings shall be limited to once a month, preferably the Sunday preceding the Lord's Supper day.
- e. District Ministers and Presiding Elders will be obligated to pay closer attention to the discipleship of new converts.

 In addition to organising new converts classes, church leaders must run retreats for them and spend time with

- them in prayer, teaching and counselling to ground them in the faith.
- f. We shall be committed to establishing 'New Members Class' for Christians who will join the church from other denominations. This will provide a platform to orient them on the tenets and other peculiarities of the church for effective integration. An orientation manual will be developed by the NDLDC in this regard.
- g. The NDLDC will be tasked to develop a "Read-throughthe-Bible-year-plan" to encourage members to read and study the Bible. This "Read-through-the-Bible-a-Year-Plan" shall be shared with our members across the nations. District Ministers shall be required to use their speakers' plans to facilitate this initiative.
- h. Public reading of the Bible shall be encouraged at the local level.
- We shall encourage intentional and consistent daily personal devotion.
- j. Family devotions shall also be encouraged to make Christ the centre of the family.
- k. We shall encourage teachings on marriage and family life at all levels. Periodic seminars and retreats will be organised for couples.
- I. Evenings of Lord's Supper days will be maintained for family meetings.
- m. The church shall produce audio versions of all discipleship manuals in the local languages for members who may be interested.

n. The annual Bible Study lessons will make provision for topics on sanitation issues for the next five years to educate our members on the importance of sanitation and its link to the transformation agenda of Vision 2023.

iii. Discipling Officers

The training and discipling of our officers under Vision 2023 shall be intensified.

- a. The Pentecost Theological Seminary will institute a oneyear certificate training programme for Elders. Other theological colleges of the church in the mission areas will be expected to do the same.
- b. All officers shall be obliged to participate in the lay leadership training school.
- c. The lay leadership school shall be evaluated to ascertain its impact for further improvements.
- d. Every officer will be provided with a copy of the Ministerial Handbook. Ministers will be encouraged to periodically use the content of the handbook for the training of officers.
- e. The church will translate the Ministerial Handbook into local languages to enable as many people as possible to read them.
- f. Area officers' retreats (apostolisation) shall be evaluated and strengthened.
- g. Officers shall be required to commit themselves to prayer and good preparation for their preaching and teaching assignments.

4.1.3 Re-organising our Ministries

i. Overview

The Ministries play a critical role in the growth and development of the church. We shall continue to employ their expertise to build the church. Where appropriate, we shall streamline their activities to feed into the "spirit" of Vision 2023. Again, their mode of operation will be reviewed to reflect the current spiritual and socio-economic needs and aspirations of the people they are called to minister to. The various directorates will be tasked to monitor activities of their respective Ministries at all levels to ensure that these activities are geared towards equipping members to contribute meaningfully to the ideals of Vision 2023. It is expected that through the activities of the Ministries, our members worldwide will be equipped practically to influence the various spheres of society through evangelism, Christ-like character and service. Area Heads, National Heads and District Ministers will be expected to show much interest in the detailed activities of the Ministries at all levels.

Specific objective: To re-position and re-align the functions of the various ministries with the objectives of Vision 2023.

ii. Actions to be taken

All Ministries

 We shall explore the possibility of devoting the last week of the month (the week preceding the Lord's Supper week) as "ministry week".

Monday – Youth Ministry

Tuesday – Women's Ministry

Wednesday – Evangelism Ministry (the whole

church programme)

Thursday – PEMEM

The Fridays shall be for area and district joint services for the Women's Ministry, PEMEM and Evangelism Ministry. There will be four joint services for each of these ministries in a year, with the Youth Ministry taking the Saturdays of the designated ministry weeks. All other Saturdays will also be available for any ministry, including the Children's Ministry, who will want to carry out any other special activity or programme. The Women's Ministry's weekly dawn/morning prayer sessions will continue as well as the Children's Ministry Sunday morning meetings.

- b. Ministries will be required to review their syllabi to synchronise with the Vision 2023.
- c. Each Ministry will be required to develop a handbook to provide a detailed operational framework to guide Ministers and workers within the respective Ministries (e.g. the Youth Pastor's Guide).
- d. As much as possible, songs sung during ministry meetings should be ministry-specific to create the desired distinctive characteristics of the various Ministries.
- e. Ministry leaders at all levels will be required to ensure that programmes carried out are Ministry-centred; with emphasis on needs-based activities rather than being a replication of the main church's activities.

- f. Each Ministry should of essence add evangelism and discipleship to their activities.
- g. Leadership of all ministries at the grassroots will be strengthened. As part of this, a training manual will be developed for ministry workers or leaders at the grassroots.

Children's Ministry

- a. For the five-year period spanning 2018-2023, the Children's Ministry will focus on training children in the values and principles of the Kingdom of God; preparing them to be agents of transformation within their spheres of influence such as the schools.
- Leaders at all levels will be required to show interest in raising children in the values and principles of the Kingdom of God.
- c. The church will explore the possibility of appointing Children's Ministry Pastors to facilitate the activities of the ministry at the Area level.
- d. The church will consider sponsoring more Pent TV coverage for children-related activities and events.
- e. A second edition of the Ministry's Devotional Guide will be published.
- f. The church will encourage individuals to form Children's clubs for the purpose of bringing children in the communities closer to God. This initiative involves mobilising children in a given neighbourhood periodically for fellowship in a relaxed atmosphere. The Children's Ministry leadership shall monitor and help sustain this initiative.

- g. As part of the transformation agenda, our children shall be engaged on some form of civic education.
- h. Inter-generational services will be strengthened in all assemblies worldwide. Children must necessarily play active roles in such services.
- Local churches running shifts will be required to make adequate provisions for places of meeting for children.
- j. Quality leadership of the Children's Ministry will be required at all levels. At the assembly level, mature officers are to be brought on board.
- k. Trained or professional teachers with Christ-like character who are well versed in scripture will be encouraged to bring their expertise on board the Children's Ministry as teachers.
- I. Children who respond to the gospel during crusades and rallies will be carefully assimilated into the church.

Youth Ministry

- a. The Ministry will focus on deepening the spirituality of the youth at both individual and corporate levels through the study of the Word, prayer, fasting and the development of a solid devotional life.
- b. Periodic training of Youth Pastors shall be intensified.
- The formation of Bible Reading Clubs will be encouraged at the assembly and district levels to challenge young people to read the Bible.
- d. Leadership will promote the use of the Youth Devotional Guide on major church platforms. Online access to the guide will also be explored.

- e. The Political and Business Chambers will be firmed up and further developed.
- f. Young people shall be encouraged to take up social responsibilities at the community level such as visiting the sick and inmates of prisons.
- g. The Ministry shall intensify career advisory and counselling services among the youths.
- h. The Pentecost Young Missionaries (PYM),an outreach programme to rural communities which has been in operation for over ten years at the national level will be decentralised to operate at the Area level for maximum impact.

Pentecost Students and Associates (PENSA)

- a. PENSA, which operates under the Youth Ministry, shall be organised to have a worldwide focus of possessing the campuses and equipping students to be agents of transformation in the society.
- b. As part of measures to sustain the over 70% youth/children membership of the church and to improve upon it, the church will explore the possibility of posting resident full-time campus pastors to the five main public universities in Ghana University of Ghana, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, University of Cape Coast, University for Development Studies and the University of Education, Winneba. The Youth Director shall also pay frequent visits to the campuses. These will help to provide better pastoral care to the students.

- c. The Ministry shall develop a PENSA Discipleship Programme (PDP) with a well-defined strategy and content for use on the campuses.
- d. Additional Travelling Secretaries will be appointed to meet the growing pastoral care needs on our campuses.
- e. PENSA Travelling Secretaries will be given more training on Campus Ministry and Chaplaincy.
- f. PENSA Travelling Secretaries will be required to offer chaplaincy services to Primary and Junior High Schools within their jurisdictions where applicable.
- g. Standard/prototype building drawings will be adopted for the construction of buildings for the various PENSA branches based on congregational sizes and locations.
- We will take advantage of PENSA's music, drama and other arts ministries to project the import of Vision 2023 to the entire church populace through Pent TV and other media outlets.
- We will explore the possibility of creating PENSA Volunteering Teams that will undertake "PENSA Community Projects" such as teaching in deprived communities.

Men's Ministry (PEMEM)

- a. Men, being family heads, shall be required among other responsibilities, to lead the family altar and maintain godly standards in the family (Eph. 5:23-25).
- b. The Men's Ministry shall be required to increase efforts in preparing men in the church to be agents of transformation in all spheres of life.

- c. PEMEM meetings will be organised around special activities or events to create more interest.
- d. The Ministry's week celebration in a given year will be tied to Fathers' Day celebration whenever feasible.

Women's Ministry

- a. The Women's Ministry shall be required to increase efforts in preparing women in the church to be agents of transformation in all spheres of life.
- b. There shall be a collaborative effort between the Youth Ministry and the Women's Ministry to operate the 'Virtuous Ladies Group' with the vision of preparing young ladies for the future.
- c. The Ministry's week celebrations in a given year will be tied to Mothers' day celebration whenever feasible.

Evangelism Ministry

- a. Every Ministry shall be required to have evangelism as a core activity.
- b. There shall be an Evangelism Coordinating Team at national, area, district and local levels, with the Chairman, National Head, Area Head, District Minister and the Presiding Elder as patrons respectively. They shall encourage and coordinate evangelistic activities in the church. The Evangelism Executive Committee plus the leaders of the other Ministries at the various levels shall form the Evangelism Coordinating Team.
- c. Every member will be encouraged to pursue personal evangelism as a lifestyle.

- d. Every member shall be an automatic member of the Evangelism Ministry in addition to membership of at least one other ministry.
- e. Budgetary allocation shall be made to facilitate evangelism at all levels.
- f. The "One member, one discipled soul" project will continue to be pursued in the month of November, in every given year across the nations. Where the designated period may not be conducive to a nation, a more convenient period shall be considered.

4.1.4 The Counselling Ministry

i. Overview

Psychosocial stressors are considered by experts as the leading causes of sickness and death in the world. Some statistics indicate that by 2020, depression will be a leading cause of ill-health and death globally. Destitution in Africa is on the rise, and one way the Church will be "relevant" for its teeming members is to provide a safe refuge and solace for the hurting who may come to Christ; as well as those who are already in the Church who for some reasons may need such services. As an institution concerned with the spiritual and emotional wellbeing of its people, COP shall seek to reorganise its counselling unit to address mental health and other related issues such as grief/depression/anxiety, suicidal crisis; domestic violence and abuse; financial and social problems; chronic health problems; families struggling with transitions/ crisis etc.

Specific objective: To have a restructured counselling service accessible to all members at all levels.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. We shall be committed to strengthening the Counselling Unit of the church.
- b. Each Area, District and local shall have a recognised team for counselling ministry.
- c. In an effort to reorganise the counselling ministry of the church to make it more effective, a seminar shall be held for all professional counsellors and mental health workers in the church such as psychologists, counsellors, psychiatrists, pastoral/clinical counsellors, chaplains, social workers and other allied health professionals to solicit their voluntary services.
- d. This group will serve as a resource to train lay counsellors (i.e. Church leaders with the interest and passion for helping those who are hurting) and Prayer Centre leaders in each Area, and this will trickle down to the District and Local levels, using the Train-the-Trainer approach (TTT).
- The counselling team at all levels shall be led by a certified counsellor.
- f. Areas that can afford shall be encouraged to create space for the counselling team at the Area office.
- g. Marriage and Family counselling shall be given special attention.
- h. Counselling services shall be introduced into all our Senior High and Basic Schools.
- i. PTS shall be required to run a certified counselling

programme for Ministers and their wives as well as interested members of the church who have passion for the counselling ministry.

4.1.5 Prayer Centres

i. Overview

Lessons learnt over the years indicate that managing the operations of the prayer centres/camps within the framework of the operations of The Church of Pentecost has remained a big challenge.

Over the years, various attempts have been made to manage the prayer centres/camps. For example, in 1995 under the chairmanship of Prophet M. K. Yeboah, the leadership of the church came out with guidelines to regulate the operations of prayer centres/camps, which stated, among other things, that no new prayer centres were to be established.

It is worth noting that, historically, prayer centre/camp leaders who have refused to operate within the framework of the church's doctrines and practices have either voluntarily left the church or been excommunicated. Obviously, such a situation disturbs the church.

Conscious of these challenges, Vision 2023 reiterates the following guidelines agreed upon at a meeting of apostles, prophets, evangelists, area heads and directors on the abovenamed subject on 18th August, 2017 at PCC, Brofoyedru, Kumasi:

a. That no more new prayer centres/camps are to be established by anyone anywhere in The Church of Pentecost.

- That apart from the approved prayer centres/camps, all unapproved prayer centres/camps are to be closed down.
- c. That under no circumstances should any church member, officer, or group of persons acquire a piece of land or facility in their personal names with the aim of organising prayer meetings in the name of the church.
- d. That church members and officers are to desist from organising and patronising prayer meetings outside the normal prayer meetings and church services without the knowledge of the church leadership.
- e. That church members and officers are hereby discouraged from organising and patronising prayer meetings and all-night meetings in open fields, parks, people's homes, and even in church premises without the knowledge of the district or local leadership of the church.
- f. As much as possible, all prayer meetings are to be organised within church buildings and other approved places under the leadership of the church. As it is written, "my house shall be called a house of prayer..." (Matt. 21:13a).
- NB: The rationale behind all these is not to discourage people from praying. The concern is that some of those prayer meetings were being used as breeding grounds for strange teachings and practices. Our effort is to ensure that people do not use these prayer meetings to start new prayer centres.

4.2 Transforming Society

This strategic approach focuses on the proposed actions that will be taken in order to take the nations and influence every sphere of society with values and principles of the Kingdom of God. The targeted focal areas are: Marriage and Family Life, Evangelism and Church Planting, Enhancing Church and State Relations, Possessing the nations through Chaplaincy, Ministry to the Chieftaincy Institution, The Church and Socioeconomic Development, Community Transformation and Ministry to Persons with Disabilities.

4.2.1 Marriage and Family Life

i. Overview (Ge.2:18; 21-25; Mt.19:4-6; 1 Co.7:1-2)

With the family as the basic unit of society, it is logical that the transformation of the society should begin with the family. For Christians, the relationship between husband and wife should be more than a commitment between two persons. It is a three-sided relationship consisting of husband, wife and God. God adds the spiritual dimension to family life and transforms the relationship into a power house of strength, which eventually extends into the society for the needed impact. A generational blessing is guaranteed if the entire household is included in this relationship. Vision 2023 therefore considers family life as a calling which must be pursued in all earnest.

Specific objective: To render the home a transformative arena for societal impact and transformation.

ii. Actions to be taken

a. Members will be taught through Bible Studies, sermons, seminars and discipleship classes to see the family as

the basic unit of society and a little church and seminary in itself. In the ideal situation, the "family church and seminary" has the husband as its pastor and his wife as his assistant with their children and others as members. Single parents should also see their homes (household) as a church and seminary. Couples who may not have children in their homes should still treat their homes as a church and seminary.

- b. The church at all levels shall encourage consistent family devotions by all members; raising a family altar around which the family including all members of the household gather to offer worship to God.
- c. Members shall be educated to see marriage and family life as a calling. A call to be a husband and a father, a wife and a mother.
- d. Spouses will be educated to see marriage as a call to support each other's salvation.
- e. As part of their calling, parents will be expected to teach their children obedience to God and themselves (parents).
- f. Children at home including all other dependants will also be taught to see themselves as called to learn this two-fold obedience (obedience to God and parents) from their earliest days.
- g. One out of each of the three Area and District weeks in a given year shall be dedicated to teachings on marriage and family life (such as marriage, finance, health, work, parenting, education etc.) in all our churches across the globe.

- h. Retreats for Couples and singles shall be encouraged at all levels.
- With reference to the 11th tenet of the church, members will be taught and oriented on what constitutes true marriage in the face of the corrupted views on marriage.
- j. The Pentecost Theological Seminary will run short courses on marriage and family life for interested couples.
- k. Pre-engagement dating, engagements and weddings shall be done modestly and decently to glorify God.
- I. We shall continue to hold chastity in marriage in high esteem and strongly frown upon pre-marital sexual relationship between prospective couples.
- m. Blessing of marriages at open places such as gardens and hired conference halls shall be discouraged.
- District Ministers shall play active roles in the counselling of would-be couples to complement the efforts of assigned counsellors.

4.2.2 Evangelism and Church Planting

i. Overview (Mt. 28:18-20; Ro. 1:16; Ro. 10:13-15)

The Church is God's instrument for the Great Commission. Evangelism, church planting and discipleship are the major aspects of the Great Commission. Efforts shall therefore be made at all levels and through all possible avenues to preach the gospel in our communities, our spheres of influence, and take the gospel to all unreached communities. Planting of new churches in unreached areas shall be pursued in all earnest.

In order to effectively ground souls won, our discipleship and counselling structures shall be strengthened as outlined in section 3.1.2.

Ghana

In Ghana, we plan to increase overall membership by 821,382 over the five-year period, with an average percentage growth of 6.4%. We also project to plant a total number of 2,500 new assemblies over the vision period, with an average number of 500 new assemblies to be opened each year.

The number of districts to be created in line with Vision 2023 will be monitored carefully to determine the intake of new Ministers. The table below provides an overview of projections made for the creation of districts and the intake of new Ministers in Ghana.

Table 1: Proposed Creation of Districts/No. of New Ministers (2019-2023)

| Year | No. of new Districts | No. Of Retirees | Missionaries, Youth Pastors, Children's Pastors, etc. | No. Of New Ministers |
|------|-------------------------|-----------------|---|----------------------------|
| 2019 | 40 | 27 | 8 | 75 |
| 2020 | 40 | 28 | 8 | 76 |
| 2021 | 40 | 30 | 8 | 78 |
| 2022 | 40 | 43 | 8 | 91 |
| 2023 | 40 | 30 | 8 | 78 |

We also plan to create about ten (10) new Areas in Ghana over the five-year period. These proposed areas are Haatso-Atomic Hills Area (to be created from Madina/Achimota Areas), Kade Area (to be created from Suhum/Asamankese/Oda Areas), Offinso Area (to be created from Suame Area), TwifoPraso Area (to be created from AssinFosu/Cape Coast/Dunkwa Areas), Nsawam Area (to be created from Suhum/Asamankese/Achimota Areas), Accra New Town Area (to be created from La Area); Teshie Area (to be created from Teshie Nungua Area), Enchi and Juaboso Areas (to be created from EssamDebiso/Asankragwa/SefwiWiawso Areas) and Duayaw Nkwanta Area (to be created from Sunyani Area).

Missions

The church (COP) is currently present in 100 nations. Over the five-year vision period, we project a minimum increment of 15 new nations, with an average number of 3 new nations per year. We also plan to increase overall membership by 315,802 over the five-year period, with an average percentage growth of 10%. This will result in an overall total membership of 833,255. In terms of new assemblies to be opened over the period, Vision 2023 projects the opening of 1,770 new assemblies with an average number of 354 assemblies per year. On the number of districts, the forecast for the next 5 years is to add 60 districts per year. This will give an overall increase of 300 districts in the nations.

Specific objectives

- a. To intensify evangelism and church planting in unreached areas.
- b. To increase the church's overall worldwide membership by 37% by 2023, using 2017 as the base year.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. Evangelism, being our core responsibility, will be spearheaded by the chairman, the national head, the area head, the district minister and the presiding elder.
- b. All ministries will be expected to be active in evangelism.
- We shall be committed to training and encouraging personal evangelism among all members.
- d. Rallies and crusades will be encouraged at all levels.
- e. Gospel Sunday (Sunday after Communion Sunday unless the day clashes with a designated programme), a day dedicated to the preaching of the gospel and soul winning shall be keenly observed.
- f. Teachings on evangelism and the second coming of Christ shall be intensified through retreats, sermons and Bible Studies.
- g. Teens and children will be intentionally targeted in our evangelistic activities. This group is known to respond readily to the gospel message. Beyond this, it will help us possess the next generation.
- h. Every district will be motivated to plant at least one assembly every year. Where constrained by geographical space, the district should support other districts to open new assemblies.
- Where new assemblies cannot be established, yet the membership is huge enough, the shift system will be encouraged.
- The use of social media for evangelism shall be encouraged.

- conscious efforts will be made to do altar calls at all church gatherings including weddings, funerals, child naming ceremonies, etc.
- I. A week in the month of November in every given year (preferably the Lord's Supper prayer week) will be designated for soul winning across the nations, dubbed, "One member, one discipled soul. "Where the designated period may not be conducive to a nation, a more convenient period shall be considered.

4.2.3 Enhancing Church and State Relations

i. Overview (Ro. 13:1-4; Dan. 2:46-16; 1 Tim. 2:1-2)

As "salt of the earth", the Church per its mandate, is required to engage the governance structures of the nations on the values and principles of the Kingdom of God. This is based on the fact that the Church has a biblical mandate to contribute meaningfully to the governance and development of the nations.

In Ghana, The Church of Pentecost with this understanding will seek to roll out programmes to strategically engage/disciple the nation's existing governance structures (the Executive, Judiciary and Legislature) within the framework of fulfilling its prophetic responsibility to the nation. Ministry to politicians will therefore be given special attention. Members of the church who operate within the governance structures of the nations will be discipled to positively impact the nation from all angles. The church will also create mentoring platforms to raise Godfearing young people who have the calling to occupy strategic positions within the nation's governance and political space. The churches in the mission areas will also be encouraged to explore relevant church-state interactions wherever possible.

Specific objective: To roll-out programmes to strategically engage/disciple the nation's existing governance structures.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. We will establish a database of all members of The Church of Pentecost in Ghana who occupy sensitive positions within the nation's governance and political space such as Ministers of State, Members of Parliament, Metropolitan/Municipal/District Chief Executives, Judges, leaders of political parties, media personnel, etc. Periodic forums will be created by the Chairman/National Heads/ Area Heads to engage these identified members on the church's transformation agenda. These forums will serve as discipleship and equipping platforms.
- b. The church will be intentional in offering chaplaincy support to state and corporate institutions.
- c. "The Political Chamber", a platform created by the Youth Ministry to raise godly politicians for the nation, will be given special attention.
- d. We will liaise with the Ghana Pentecostal and Charismatic Council and the Christian Council of Ghana to dialogue with the state apparatus on sensitive national issues. Where necessary, a joint communique reflecting the outcome of such dialogues shall be made public.

4.2.4 Possessing the Nations through Chaplaincy

i. Overview

One way by which The Church of Pentecost can "possess the nations" is to promote godliness and the use of godly principles in decision making at workplaces. We can do this through a well laid out chaplaincy service that can serve all spheres of society.

Our customised chaplaincy service in Ghana shall aim at causing people to trust Jesus and look up to Christian chaplains for spiritual and emotional care and direction. The Church of Pentecost is already engaged with providing chaplains in military, prisons, hospital, schools and some workplaces. We shall review their operations and expand them in our efforts to "possessing the nations". Other chaplaincy areas we shall explore will include hospital/hospice chaplaincy, sports chaplaincy, first attender/emergency services chaplaincy and chaplaincy to widows, widowers, the aged and orphans. Persons to be engaged in these fields as chaplains may not necessarily be professionals or full time Ministers and shall operate as volunteers. The churches in other nations should explore relevant chaplaincy opportunities to serve their societies.

Specific objective: To promote godliness and the use of godly principles in decision making at the workplace.

- ii. Actions to be taken: Operational structure for Chaplaincy Ministry
- a. A 7-member National Chaplaincy Board for The Church of Pentecost that shall be responsible for coordinating chaplaincy placements, activities and training of all chaplains will be set up. They shall report bi-annually to the Chairman.
- b. Area Chaplaincy committees shall be established to coordinate chaplaincy activities at the area level. They shall submit bi-annual reports to the National Board through their Area Heads.
- c. District Chaplaincy committees shall also be established to coordinate chaplaincy activities at the district and local levels.

- d. Pentecost Theological Seminary (PTS) shall be responsible for the training and certification of our chaplains. The seminary in running this certification programme, will consider engaging the services of external faculty to augment its faculty strength. We shall commit ourselves to sponsoring qualified persons within our jurisdiction who have the flair for the chaplaincy ministry for further training in chaplaincy.
- e. We shall be committed to training all ministers of the church in basic chaplaincy; and encourage them to avail themselves to offer chaplaincy services to institutions within their jurisdictions who may need them.

iii. Military and Prisons/Correctional institutions Chaplaincy

a. Since these institutions have their own criteria for enlisting chaplains, we shall relate more with them in order to increase the number of chaplains from The Church of Pentecost.

iv. Hospital and Hospice Chaplaincy

- a. We shall train and certify responsible members of the church who are interested in chaplaincy to work in various hospitals as chaplain assistants. In collaboration with Ghana Health Service/ Ministry of Health, they shall be deployed to the various health care facilities. Their roles shall cover patients, hospital staff and families of patients.
- b. We shall commit ourselves to training hospice chaplains who shall seek to offer spiritual and emotional care and spend time with people who are terminally ill in both hospital and domestic hospice settings. The affected people around them will also be ministered to.

v. Workplace Chaplaincy

a. We shall enlist and train members who shall be certified to provide chaplaincy services in various workplaces.

vi. Schools chaplaincy

- a. We shall be committed to strengthening the chaplaincy ministry in all Church of Pentecost Schools.
- PENSA Travelling Secretaries will be required to offer chaplaincy services to Primary and Junior High Schools within their jurisdictions where practicable.
- c. We shall train and certify chaplain assistants who shall offer chaplaincy to Basic schools.
- d. In addition to our chaplaincy services to the schools, we shall also embark on intensive evangelism outreaches to the basic and senior high schools.

vii. Sports chaplaincy

- Members who have interest in sports and fitness, and seek chaplaincy in the field of sports shall be recruited and trained.
- b. The church shall initiate the formation of Keep-Fit clubs where chaplaincy services shall be offered. The clubs will be a strategy for mobilising people so that the chaplains can disciple them.

viii. First Responder/Emergency Services chaplain

a. We shall liaise with NADMO, Ghana National Ambulance Service and Ghana National Fire Service to provide chaplains for them.

ix. Chaplaincy to Orphanages and Aged/ Nursing Homes

- a. We shall seek to provide chaplaincy services in other areas such as chaplaincy to orphans and the aged.
- b. Persons to be trained for this chaplaincy services shall pay active visits to identified aged homes and orphanages to provide spiritual and emotional care.

x. Chaplaincy to Refugees and Migrants' camps

a. We shall seek to provide chaplaincy services to refugees and migrants' camps where feasible.

xi. Chaplaincy to the Palace

The church will be encouraged to devote time for traditional rulers in order to provide chaplaincy services to the chieftaincy institution.

4.2.5 Ministry to the Chieftaincy Institution

i. Overview (1 Tim. 2:1&2, Rom. 13:1&2)

Chieftaincy is a major cultural heritage and institution in Africa. It provides a scope for leadership and exercise of authority and it is supposed to be the most respected institution in the community. The culture, tradition and governance system of the community revolves around the chieftaincy institution and the church's ability to influence this all-important institution will give us some inroads into the community. Vision 2023 will therefore continue with the efforts made by Apostle Professor Opoku Onyinah (Rtd.) to recognise the critical role the chieftaincy institution in Africa plays. We shall go beyond the biennial royal conferences organised for chiefs and institute teams/working groups at all levels of the church to minister to the chieftaincy institution.

Specific objective: To deepen engagement with the chieftaincy institution in order to impart values of the Kingdom of God to traditional authorities.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. Chieftaincy ministry committee will be set up at the national level to facilitate the church's engagements with the chieftaincy institution. The Committee will operate directly under the office of the Chairman. This will be replicated at the Area and District levels.
- b. We shall continue to organise conferences and training programmes for the chieftaincy institution.
- "Guidance for Christian Royals", a practical handbook for Christian chiefs currently in preparation, will be expedited for publication and use.
- d. In order to transform certain aspects of our culture and to promote community development, we shall continue to encourage and guide our members who are royals and feel called by God to enter into chieftaincy.
- e. The church will be encouraged to devote time for traditional rulers in order to provide chaplaincy services to the chieftaincy institution.
- f. A type of chieftaincy has emerged in the African Diasporas in the West to organise communities around their cultural identity. The churches in the West should carefully engage with this system.

4.2.6 The Church and Socio-Economic Development

i. Overview

The Church is instrumental in fostering growth and transformational development of every nation. Over the years, The Church of Pentecost has been instrumental in promoting growth and sustainable development in Ghana. Pentecost Social Services (PENTSOS), the institution set up to lead the process, will be restructured and used as a vehicle (social ministry) to contribute to accelerated socio-economic development in order to launch out our transformation agenda in the society.

Specific objectives

- a. To enhance the relevance and visibility of PENTSOS.
- b. To embark on strategic partnerships with government in developing the nation.
- ii. Actions to be taken
- a. We will refocus, restructure and position PENTSOS to work effectively as a development-oriented organisation as well as a corporate organisation cast in the mode of other faith-based development organisations such as the Adventist Development and Relief Agency (ADRA) and Catholic Relief Services (CRS).
- The church will provide phased support to PENTSOS with an exit strategy to enable it establish itself as a corporate organisation.
- c. PENTSOS will produce a periodic newsletter to create more visibility and awareness of its programmes, performance and impact. The operations of PENTSOS will also be publicised on PENT TV and our social media

- platforms to create public awareness of our social interventions.
- d. The annual Bible Study outlines will have lessons focusing on certain aspects of the operations and activities of PENTSOS.
- e. Where feasible, we shall partner Government to establish public schools at strategic places to enable the poor have improved access to education.
- f. We will partner Government to improve facilities in our Senior High Schools in Kumasi and Koforidua.
- g. We shall explore the possibility of establishing an educational unit to manage our schools and a health unit to manage our health facilities.
- We shall commit ourselves to upgrading and expanding the facilities at the Pentecost Hospital in Madina to offer improved services.
- Areas, districts and locals shall be required to provide details of scholarships offered at their levels to the Headquarters periodically.
- j. Follow up shall be made on the beneficiaries of the church's scholarship scheme and a guild formed to facilitate networking and human resource mobilisation.
- k. Area heads, district ministers and presiding elders will be encouraged to provide sponsorship to students in other fields including vocational and technical education as well as those pursuing apprenticeship.
- I. PENTSOS shall provide economic livelihood training such as soap making, mushroom cultivation and snail rearing to interested members.

- m. Encourage the establishment of more Pentecost Credit Unions (PENCU) across the country to improve members' access to financial services.
- PENTSOS shall be involved in civic education to educate the citizenry on relevant national issues.
- We shall partner with Christian aid organisations such as Compassion International, World Vision and Christian Aid to implement specific initiatives for the development of some sections of society.
- iii. Strategic Partnership with Government in Developing the Nation
- We shall contribute to national level dialogues and discussions on highly relevant issues that promote national development and border on the welfare of Ghanaians.
- The church will partner the government and community to provide potable drinking water in some selected deprived communities.
- We shall partner government to put up Community-based Health Planning and Services (CHPS) compounds to improve access to health care in some selected deprived communities.
- d. We will initiate a security-based development project dubbed "Police Station & Post Project (PSPP)" to put up police stations/police posts in some selected deprived and insecure areas. This will be our contribution to government's efforts to provide police posts in communities where they are needed.

- e. In collaboration with the Ghana Prisons Service, the church will initiate the construction of accommodation facilities (cells) for selected prisons in the country as part of efforts to support government ease congestions in those prisons.
- f. Areas and well-endowed districts shall be encouraged to construct shelters at bus stops for communal use. Such initiatives should be undertaken with evangelism in mind.

4.2.7 Community Transformation

i. Overview (Gen. 41:39-41; Jer. 29:4-7)

The Church is commissioned by Jesus Christ and empowered by the Holy Spirit to advance the Kingdom of God on earth. Its mandate is the discipleship of the nations, which also brings along societal transformation and development. In other words, to develop and transform the nations and communities is to move those communities towards Christ. This calls for a change of worldviews, opinions, attitudes and ways of life. To succeed at this, the church must learn to walk alongside the community and "seek its good" in diverse ways towards its development as it endeavours to disciple it with values and principles of the Kingdom of God.

Specific objective: To position the local church as an agent for community transformation.

ii. Actions to be taken

 The church, represented by its leaders and members at all levels, will show interest in the life of the communities within which it operates.

62 VISION 2023

- We shall revise the programme for ministers in training (PTS) to include compassionate ministry/community development.
- Leaders and members will be encouraged to actively participate in community activities and become known figures in community development and transformation.
- d. We shall encourage the assemblies, districts and areas to identify community challenges that the church can work on as part of the transformation agenda.
- e. The church will explore the possibility of running a community literacy programme for community members in areas where this felt need is identified.
- f. The church will make the proclamation of Christ a part of all its development activities.
- g. Members will be encouraged to take up roles in their respective communities such as unit committees, political parties, family headship and chieftaincy (i.e. for royals). This will help to impart Christian values in the affairs of leadership in the community.
- h. The church will embark on sanitation campaigns at the district and local levels. These campaigns will seek to sensitise members and community members on good sanitation practices.
- Our annual Bible Study lessons will make provision for topics on sanitation and other environmental issues for the next five years to educate our members on the importance of sanitation.

4.2.8 Ministry to Persons with Disabilities (PWDs)

i. Overview

Vision 2023 regards disability inclusion as a high priority. Globally, persons with disabilities remain a large neglected mission field that urgently requires the church to consciously reach out to. In Ghana for instance, there are 737,743 persons living with some form of disability, representing 3.0% of the nation's total population, according to the 2010 national population and housing census. In response to the challenges within the PWD community, the church has ordained a physically-challenged person into pastoral ministry and has put in place some sponsorship packages for PWDs. However, we acknowledge that our overall consciousness on how to treat and interact with PWDs will need some much more attention – a priority that Vision 2023 will earnestly pursue.

As we embark on an intensified mission to persons with disabilities across the nations, we are collectively fulfilling the Great Commission and also heeding to Christ's mandate for us to bring in those who are oppressed, the poor, the crippled, the blind and the lame (Lk. 14:21, ESV).

Specific objective: To intensify ministry to Persons with Disability.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. We shall be committed to strengthening ministry to persons with disabilities. In doing this, Committees shall be set up to look for and share the gospel with persons with disabilities at all levels.
- We shall design intervention programmes to help us care for and attend to the needs of the disabled community,

including the provision of braille materials for people who are blind, listening devices for people who are hearing impaired and large prints for people who are visually impaired.

- c. We shall create disability awareness in all ways practicable among members of the church. We shall also use Pent TV and other media outlets in this regard.
- d. The church will be educated to make their churches disability-friendly. This may include the provision of climbing ramps, special toilet facilities, disabled-friendly parking spaces, etc.
- e. Skilled persons as well as interested and committed members will be trained on how to communicate, evangelise and disciple persons with disabilities.
- f. Persons with disabilities won for Christ shall be integrated and assimilated into the local church.
- g. At least each district will be required to have a sign language interpreter to facilitate communication with the deaf and dumb during church services.
- h. We shall endeavour to partner government to equip persons with disabilities won for Christ with the needed skills to be productive in the communities in which they live and in furtherance to this, take part in the church's mission of transforming the nations.

4.3 Strengthening and Realigning Church Institutions and Structures

This strategic approach focuses on the proposed actions that will be taken to strengthen and realign existing institutions and

structures within The Church of Pentecost. The targeted focal areas are: Media Institutions and Outlets, Missions, Pentecost University College, Pentecost Convention Centre, Regional Coordinating Committees, Pentecost Theological Seminary/ Ministerial Training and Development, Pentecost International Worship Centres, The Pension Board, General Headquarters Administration and Finance, Projects and Infrastructural Development, Strengthening our Fraternal Relations, The Executive Council and General Council Meetings.

4.3.1 Media Institutions and Outlets

i. Overview

Taking cognisance of the indispensable role of the media in modern society, Vision 2023 will make significant use of media to advance its course. The media will be used as a means of propagating the gospel, for discipling members of the church, and for transforming society. The various media outlets of the church will therefore be given a face lift and used for this intended purpose. The church will roll out a process to set up a single management body under one Director but with qualified personnel and experts heading the various media arms of the church. This body will be known as Pentecost Media Centre.

Specific objective: To restructure and empower the media outlets of the church to propagate the gospel, disciple members of the church and transform society.

ii. Actions to be taken:

a. We will work towards the effective collaboration and synergy between the various media arms of the church, namely; Pent TV, Radio Ministry, Publications Department and Pentecost Press.

- The Pentecost Media Centre will be established to bring the various media arms under a single management structure.
- c. We will develop a suitable structure to house the Pentecost Media Centre.
- d. We will be committed to the training of the church's media personnel for improved and efficient performance.
- e. The church will strategically collaborate with some selected media houses to push the transformation agenda of the church.
- f. We will build a library/archive for the church's media materials for easy access, posterity and reference.
- g. Efforts shall be made to bring together all media professionals at all levels in the church to help spearhead our transformation agenda and as well help in managing information about the church.

iii. Pentecost Press

- a. The Press will be tasked to diversify their products to serve the church and the general public.
- b. The Press will produce evangelism and discipleship tracts and other literature in several languages for distribution.

iv. Pent TV

- a. We will recruit professionals with requisite technical TV experience to manage the operations of Pent TV.
- Professional training programmes will be organised for personnel.

- The church will partner Pent TV to acquire an additional digital free-to-air channel for viewers without satellite receivers.
- d. The church may also explore the possibility of acquiring a DSTV channel to help our brethren across the globe to have easy access to Pent TV.
- e. The church will partner Pent TV to acquire state-of-theart equipment which will help the station to churn out quality productions and make the station appealing and competitive.
- f. Pent TV will be required to review its existing programmes and develop innovative, entertaining and life-transforming content that will be viewer friendly.
- g. Pent TV will continue to strengthen its online presence with captivating and inspiring content. It will consciously build an online community from its online patrons/social media friends and use it as a means of carrying out the transformation agenda of Vision 2023.
- h. Phone-in sessions will be introduced for the Pentecost Hour and Grace Hour programmes to enhance viewer feedback.
- i. The station will be used as a major platform for the propagation of the gospel.
- j. Pent TV will be used to publicise the church's social interventions in society.
- k. The Headquarters will partner the Children and Youth ministries to sponsor their programmes on Pent TV.
- I. Pent TV in reaching out to the francophone brethren,

will introduce some programmes in the French language, particularly shots recorded in the French countries such as Togo, Benin, La Côte d'Ivoire and France.

- More English language programmes shall also be introduced for the benefit of the growing global viewers.
- n. Pent TV shall be committed to the use of sign language in their major programmes.

v. Radio Ministry

- a. The church will set up a Christian radio station to propagate the gospel.
- b. Pastoral care will be extended to people who call for help after listening to our radio broadcasts.
- c. Radio ministry programmes in the various Areas will continue unabated.
- We shall explore the possibility of broadcasting Pentecost Hour on other major radio stations in Ghana such as Joy FM and City FM.
- e. The church will set up an online radio to reach out to the virtual global community.
- f. The church will encourage PUC to enhance the operations of its radio station (Pentvars Radio) to reach out to students and the surrounding community with the gospel.
- g. Our mission areas will also be encouraged to set up radio stations to augment the preaching of the gospel.

vi. Social Media

a. PIWCs, Worship Centres and other well-equipped assemblies across the nations will be encouraged to

live-stream their church services when appropriate for the benefit of the global online audience. Persons to do this shall be given some form of training.

- b. The values and principles of the Kingdom of God will be packaged in diversified picture, audio and video formats to be shared across these platforms.
- c. We will redesign the COP Mobile App in order to incorporate more shareable content (videos, songs, infographics, etc.)
- d. We shall ensure regular update of the church's (headquarters) social media platforms with content tailored to the theme for the year.

vii. Publications and Literary Works

Under Vision 2023, the church's publications and literary works will be given detailed attention. In addition to the services being rendered by Apostle Dr. Michael Ntumy, the church will also engage the expertise of Apostle Prof. Opoku Onyinah (Rtd.) in all its publications and literary works.

The church will complete among others, the following publications: "God's Covenant with The Church of Pentecost" and "Guidance for Christian Royals".

4.3.2 Missions

i. Overview (Matt. 28:18-20; Rom. 15:20, Num. 22:4-6, Acts 17:6)

The church has been called to reach out to the nations; a mandate which remains the bedrock of Vision 2023. The church will continue to make conscious efforts to increase its

presence in the nations. Our target is not just to be present in a nation but that our presence would be felt as we impact the land with the values and principles of the Kingdom of God. This calls for openness and creativity that will stretch us beyond our comfort zones. We will as a result, strengthen our mission fronts while we also explore other strategies that will enable us reach out to other nations and to possess the land.

Specific objective: To strengthen our mission fronts and explore other strategies to enable us reach out to other nations and to possess the land.

ii. Actions to be taken - External Missions

- a. The Executive Council will follow up on the implementation of the autonomy/affiliation policy.
- b. Church planting efforts will be made more strategic:
- For the new nations we envisage to enter into, we will encourage the planting of churches in strategic places such as the cities where human and material resources will be available for further expansion.
- In places where churches have already been established in the rural areas, conscious efforts will also be made to establish churches in strategic places.
- We shall be committed to increasing our efforts in soul winning and the creation of more districts in mission areas.
- d. In addition to providing ministry to people largely of Ghanaian descent, ministers in the diaspora will be trained to be mission minded.

- e. We will give special attention to planting indigenous churches. As part of the measures to achieve this, ministers already on the missions field and those to be posted to the missions field will be made to learn the language and culture of the people (Dan. 1:3-4).
- f. Efforts will be made to strengthen the Regional Coordinating Committees (RCCs), by giving them more room to operate. This will include delegating responsibilities to the Apostles and Prophets in the mission areas.
- g. In order to consolidate the gains made in our missions front, we shall guide our external mission areas to build strong and solid administrative structures. In view of this, each nation will be guided to develop a workable national constitution and well documented policies and practices.
- h. Training of leaders at all levels will be encouraged.
- i. Calling of young people into the ministry will be encouraged.
- j. We will encourage the establishment of more crosscultural churches (PIWCs).
- k. Churches in the diaspora will be more aggressive in doing ministry among the common people such as the down-trodden and outcasts, including the homeless, drug addicts and drunkards. This will not only pave way for the harvest of new souls for the Lord, but may also contribute to winning indigenous people into the church (Mark 12:37, Luke 4:17&18).

72

- I. The Missions Board will institute interactive training sessions for missionaries after the annual Heads' Meetings in November.
- Efforts will be made to make Pent TV friendlier to our Francophone brethren by introducing programmes in the French language.
- n. Churches in the mission areas will be encouraged to strengthen relationship with existing para-church organisations and relevant ecumenical bodies in their respective nations.
- Ministers will be encouraged to attend conferences as part of their personal and ministerial development efforts.

iii. External Missions (PENSA and the Nations)

Among other implementation strategies, Vision 2023 will adopt PENSA as a strategic platform to reach out to the nations. The following actions will be employed in this regard:

- a. We will strategically establish PENSA in the nations where possible.
- b. We shall be committed to appointing more PENSA Travelling Secretaries (campus ministers) in the nations.
- c. We will create an international forum for PENSA to be known as PENSA International (PENSA Int.). PENSA International will be branded to be recognised globally across our churches.
- d. PENSA International will among its functions register all students and alumni of the church into a global network

via a PENSA international professional social media app. This global network will help in facilitating the work of missions in the nations.

- e. Under PENSA International, a massive global campaign will be launched to encourage students to initiate PENSA on every campus they find themselves.
- f. We shall explore the possibility of appointing a coordinator to coordinate the activities of PENSA International.
- g. In collaboration with the International Missions office, PENSA students and alumni will be recruited as volunteers for social work and missions' trip when necessary and when convenient.
- h. A PENSA International conference shall be held every three years with evangelistic focus.
- i. PENSA International will also facilitate professional networking among its members.

iv. Internal Missions

- a. The Executive Council will consider reviewing the status of the internal mission areas to ascertain the possibility of weaning off some of them from their mission area status.
- b. The Executive Council will also consider reviewing the administrative oversight of the internal mission areas.

v. Home Missions

"The foreigners residing among you must be treated as your native-born. Love them as yourself..." (Lev. 19:34).

- a. Home missions will seek to reach out to foreigners/ expatriates wherever they are, so that they become disciple makers when they go back to their respective countries.
- b. A special ministry will be established to reach out to the Fulani or fula people (nomadic herdsmen spread over many countries, predominantly in West Africa) wherever they may be found.
- c. Efforts shall be made to establish more French speaking assemblies in the English-speaking West African Countries. This concept shall be replicated in other language zones.
- d. We shall see PIWCs as home missions. In line with this, the Missions Board and the Headquarters shall augment the financial assistance that is being provided by the districts and areas to establish more PIWCs in strategic areas in Ghana.

vi. Urban Missions

And the scroll of the prophet Isaiah was handed to him. Unrolling it, he found the place where it is written: "The Spirit of the Lord is on me, because he has anointed me to proclaim good news to the poor. He has sent me to proclaim freedom for the prisoners and recovery of sight for the blind to set the oppressed free (Lk. 4:17&18, NIV).

When Jesus came down from the mountainside, large crowds followed him. A man with leprosy came and knelt before him and said, "Lord, if you are willing, you can make me clean. Jesus reached out his hand and touched the man. "I am willing," he said. "Be clean!" Immediately he was cleansed of his leprosy (Mt. 8:1-3).

Large numbers of people move to the cities to find work and seek better life. However, many of these find their hopes dashed and as such they struggle to adapt to life in the city. This has resulted in many disillusioned people living in slums with hunger to find meaning in life, acceptance and a loving community. Accordingly,

- a. Urban missions will seek to give the hope that can only be found in Christ Jesus to these people.
- Urban missions will seek and win the urban poor and the destitute such as the kayaye 'head-porters', the homeless, street children and drug addicts just as Christ did.
- c. Assemblies, projects and people groups that will be identified as being in the strategic interest of the church will be given assistance necessary for achieving their strategic objectives.

vii. Integration of the Northern Outreach Ministry and Assimilation of Members

- a. The church shall assess the extent of assimilation of persons won under the former Northern Outreach Ministry into the local church.
- b. The church shall assess the extent of integration of the Northern Outreach Ministry into the mainstream church.

4.3.3 Pentecost University College (PUC)

i. Overview

PUC will continue to be assisted to become a university of choice in Ghana, where excellent graduates will be produced to meet the needs and challenges of the fast-changing world.

It will be considered a unique mission field of the church with the aim of leading students to the Lord Jesus Christ, discipling and equipping them to possess the nations.

Specific Objective: To help position PUC to effectively equip students for societal impact and transformation.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. We will continue to support the PUC to create an enabling learning environment.
- b. The church will continue to ensure that PUC has both qualified faculty and staff who are academically and spiritually sound to prepare people for both Christian ministry and the secular work.
- c. It is expected that by 2023, PUC would be a chartered university.
- d. PUC will intensify its commitment to research and academic dialogues.
- e. The church in partnership with academia shall organise an international academic conference every year. This conference shall attract both international and local scholars who will reflect on some aspects of the annual themes under Vision 2023. It is envisaged that this will promote publications and scholarly activities in our tertiary institutions (PUC and PTS).
- f. Career advisory services for students shall be introduced as part of the university's mentoring programme.
- g. A percentage of Areas' designated IGF to the Districts will be used as scholarship funds to sponsor students to PUC. Apart from developing the human capital of the

church, this initiative will also contribute to increasing enrolment of the university and as well help with its financial stability.

- h. Well-endowed areas, districts and locals will also be encouraged to sponsor students to PUC.
- i. PUC will institute an 'Open Day' concept where the University will introduce SHS students to the PUC brand on yearly basis to improve intake, using the social capital (goodwill) of the church.
- j. Our churches shall be required to continue to advertise PUC in their respective jurisdictions.
- k. We shall encourage districts to have at least one member enrolled at PUC each year.

4.3.4 Pentecost Theological Seminary/Ministerial Training and Development

i. Overview (Acts 18: 24-28; Ezra 7:9-11)

Ministry in the 21st century is challenged by the dynamics and trends of the contemporary environment. A virtuous reality however emerges when Ministers are provided with the needed opportunities to learn, practise and develop capacities for effective ministry. This calls for constant upgrading and increase in knowledge and skills in modern trends for all ministers.

In line with this, the Pentecost Theological Seminary (PTS) instituted by the church for this purpose, will seek to strengthen ministerial formation, refresher courses, higher theological education and missionary training for the church.

 Specific objective: To provide ministers with the needed opportunities to study, practise and develop capacities for effective ministry.

ii. Actions to be taken

- As part of the ministerial formation programme, provision will be made for serving and retired Apostles and Prophets and some senior pastors to share their ministry and life experiences with ministerial students.
- b. PTS will run a refresher course for Ministers in Theology and Christian Ministry.
- c. The church will institute a five-week cross-cultural Missionary Training programme for new missionaries.
- d. Missionary Training will be extended to Ministers in the diaspora through the church's Bible Schools and Colleges across the globe.
- e. The institution will seek to obtain accreditation for all its intended programmes within five (5) years.
- f. The ministers' wives' training programme will be upgraded.
- g. PTS will continue to offer support to the training programmes of the external branches of the church through the newly established seminaries and Bible institutes in both Anglophone and Francophone countries. This will be done through assistance in curriculum development and exchange of lecturers where necessary.
- h. We will ensure that the pursuit of further studies by Ministers does not negatively impact the ministry.

- We will continue to sponsor identified Ministers who can pursue M.Phil. and/or Ph.D. degrees in theology and other disciplines such as leadership development, administration and management.
- j. Specialised training in ministry areas such as chaplaincy will receive special attention.

iii. Training Institutions outside Ghana

- a. Efforts shall be made to promote the church's training institutions outside Ghana.
- b. The church will provide support to help refurbish the Birmingham Christian College in the UK to make it fully operational.
- c. The Pentecost Theological College in the US shall also be supported to speed up its accreditation process. It will be positioned to offer training to leaders in the Hispanic region.
- d. The Executive Council shall set up a board to oversee the running of the Bible School in La Cote D'Ivoire for the Francophone nations.

iv. Ministers and Wives' Conferences

- a. Global Ministers / Ministers and wives' conferences shall be organised when necessary.
- b. Ministers and wives' conference for Francophone countries will be held every other year.
- c. The Heads' meetings in November and January shall continue.

4.3.5 Pentecost Convention Centre (PCC)

i. Overview

The Pentecost Convention Centre (PCC) will continue to provide Christian-centred hospitality services with excellence while making efforts to expand the facilities at the Centre.

Specific objective: To expand the facilities at the Centre to provide Christian-centred hospitality services with excellence.

- ii. Actions to be taken
- a. PCC will continue to serve as a spiritual renewal centre.
- b. We will double up efforts to complete the multi-purpose four-storey building project under construction.
- c. PCC will consider the construction of recreational facilities at the centre. This is expected to augment the existing facilities to give it a face lift to meet international standards.
- d. The church will continue to develop the Kumasi Pentecost Convention Centre at Brofoyedru.

4.3.6 Regional Coordinating Committees (RCCs)

The Regional Coordinating Committees play a very critical role in the decentralised administrative structure of the church. The Committees will continue to be empowered and given more room to effectively carry out their constitutionally assigned mandate, especially in providing effective supervisory role at the grassroots level.

To enhance the reporting system of the RCCs, a new reporting template will be developed for the compilation of the regional composite reports taking into consideration Vision 2023.

With the completion of the church's web based digital e-portal geo-mapping solution, the RCCs will help in carrying out proper re-demarcation of areas and districts in regions where there is the need.

4.3.7 Pentecost International Worship Centres (PIWCs) as Strategic Partners in Possessing the Nations

i. Overview (1 Cor. 9:19-23; Acts 13:36; Php. 1:12-18)

The rationale behind the establishment of the Pentecost International Worship Centres (PIWCs) was to provide a well organised, cross-cultural church, primarily for people of non-Ghanaian cultural background (expatriates) who want a place to worship as well as our Ghanaian brothers and sisters who prefer to worship in the English language or in a multicultural environment. The centres will continue to serve these purposes. Furthermore, the PIWCs shall be considered as strategic partners in our determined efforts to possess the nations. This is because the PIWCs have a rich pool of talents, skills and professionals most of whom are occupying positions of influence in the academia, corporate, political and traditional spheres of our society. This resourceful human capital will be harnessed by the church to extend the impact of the Kingdom to all spheres of society and the nations.

Specific objective: To harness the resourceful human capital of the PIWCs in order to extend the impact of the Kingdom to all spheres of society and the nations.

ii. Actions to be taken

a. Periodic seminars will be organised for Ministers and officers of the PIWCs at the Area level and where

- necessary at the national level. Resource persons can be drawn from across the country.
- We shall encourage the strategic and intentional planting of PIWCs across the nations.
- c. The church will discourage PIWCs from running assemblies that speak vernacular.
- PIWCs will be required to employ creative evangelistic strategies in order to effectively reach out to their target populace.
- e. We shall encourage PIWCs who have the capacity, to adopt assemblies in the mission areas for regular support in the form of finance, outreach, etc.
- f. PIWCs shall be encouraged to reach out to expatriates.
- g. PIWCs and assemblies that have the required capacity will be encouraged to consciously reach out to French-speaking nationals within their jurisdictions. Souls won will either be integrated into the church or separate French Speaking Assemblies opened for them.

iii. English Assemblies

 We shall encourage Districts to continue to plant English assemblies.

4.3.8 Pension Board

i. Overview

The mandate of the Pension Board is to establish a fund distinct and separate from the End of Service Benefits (ESB) operated by the Headquarters of the Church for the benefit of Ministers who retire at the age of sixty-five (65) or are prematurely retired.

Specific objective: To enhance the activities of the Board in fulfilling its constitutional mandate.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. The Board shall continue to invest in less risky ventures.
- The Board shall continue to hold seminars for retirees, serving ministers and members of the church on the subject of retirement.

4.3.9 Strengthening our Ecumenical Relations

i. Overview(Jn. 17:20-21; 1 Thess. 3:11-13; Eph. 3:14-21)

The Church of Pentecost has over the years, gained the respect of the Christian community in and outside Ghana. This, we must seize as a God-given opportunity. The church will continue its efforts to play a leading role in Christianity. It will attempt to share fraternity with other Christian churches and para-church organisations across the globe, with the aim of contributing to the call for a renewed community of believers consumed with the zeal of the Lord to promote values and principles of the Kingdom of God within the global community.

Specific objective: To contribute to the call for a renewed community of believers poised to promote values and principles of the Kingdom of God within the global community.

ii. Actions to be taken

a. With our transformation agenda, the church will also use its influence to organise both national and international interdenominational conferences where necessary.

- b. We shall continue to play a leading role in supporting para-church and other Christian organisations such as Ghana Pentecostal and Charismatic Council (GPCC), Scripture Union, Bible Society of Ghana, Ghana Institute of Linguistics, Literacy and Bible Translation and Ghana Evangelism Committee.
- We shall continue to exchange visits, interact and share ministry with leaders of some Christian churches in Africa and other parts of the world.
- d. At the global level, we shall continue to maintain relationship with Elim Pentecostal Churches, Links International, Lausanne Movement, World Pentecostal Fellowship and the Apostolic Faith Mission (AFM).
- e. We shall continue to make meaningful contributions to Empowered 21.

4.3.10 Projects and Infrastructural Development

i. Overview (Ex. 35:4-29; Gen. 6:14-21, Ex. 35:10; Ex. 36:1, Lk. 14:28-30)

Every organism needs a conducive environment to grow and develop holistically. The church must as well be housed in an eco-friendly built environment to enhance a balanced growth. By the way church buildings look, they can serve as evangelistic tools sometimes. Thus, they pull people to church and even determine the class of people who may want to fellowship there. Excellence is biblical, and so efforts would be made to give the needed attention to the planning and execution of construction projects. The monitoring and supervision of developmental projects shall be stepped up.

All our projects must achieve value for money, be compliant with church practices and meet construction standards and local statutory requirements.

Following a successful four-year implementation of the flagship CBCB project in Ghana, the existing modalities for the disbursement of funds will be reviewed. Two categories of grant allocation shall stream out of the CBCB system earmarked for accelerated removal of churches under trees, in classrooms, and congregations in urban centres without church buildings. The first category will continue to be the traditional CBCB system earmarked for the rural areas. There shall be a counterpart fund for the CBCB in the urban centres to be known as the Urban Accelerated Church Building (UACB) project. The quantum of funds for UACB projects may be higher than that of the CBCB project. As such, fewer UACB projects will be approved per annum per Area in comparison to the CBCB allocations.

Specific objectives

- a. To accelerate the provision of conducive worship environment for all our local assemblies.
- To ensure that all building projects meet the value for money requirement and are compliant with construction standards and local statutory requirements.

ii. Actions to be taken

 The grant allocation for CBCB projects will be categorised into two strands: the traditional CBCB grants for rural and semi-urban areas and the Urban Accelerated Church Buildings (UACB) for urban centres.

- b. Prototype UACB designs will be made for 300-seat capacity and 500-seat capacity auditoria for urban centres. These facilities shall include places of meeting for children and washrooms. The above notwithstanding, UACB grants may also be applied to accelerate the completion of on-going church building projects.
- c. Based on the annual development budgetary allocation for the Areas, an Area may request for an aggregate blend of CBCB and UACB grants. Based on the level of infrastructural deficit and classification of Areas, the funding focus may either be skewed to CBCB or UACB allocation.
- d. In principle, only one CBCB and UACB grant allocation shall be administered per project during its lifetime execution, unless otherwise approved by the office of the Chairman. The Areas shall be expected to facilitate the completion of CBCB and UACB projects.
- e. Considering project urgency, justification and duration, special grants shall be administered to accelerate the completion of on-going church building projects.
- f. By the year 2020, all Areas shall be required to accelerate the completion of all on-going CBCB projects rolled out from 2014 to 2018.
- g. The existing CBCB designs shall be reviewed to make provision for a place of meeting for the Children's Ministry. A 200-seat capacity CBCB design shall be developed and proposed for zonal centres.
- h. Irrespective of the source of project funding, the use of prototype designs (depending on certain classifications

- and indicators) shall be encouraged nationwide due to its enormous socio-economic benefit to the church.
- Before the commencement of any church building project, the building design must have a meeting place for the Children's Ministry and must be disability friendly.
- j. All facilities of public nature must be disability friendly.
- k. In order to ensure efficient use of church resources, formal authorisation from the office of the Chairman shall be required prior to redesigning, demolition and re-construction of building projects.
- I. All Areas will be required to engage the services of qualified technical experts (Project officers) to offer the needed technical support services for the construction, inspection and supervision of new projects as well as the maintenance of existing facilities. Periodic training programmes shall be offered to these project officers to build their capacities.
- m. The Areas will be obligated to coordinate and consolidate efforts meant to perfect all land documentation for landed assets nationwide. Where practically feasible, all documentation on the church's landed properties should be perfected by the end of 2023.
- n. Periodic training will be organised by the National Estate Committee to train local artisans in the church and educate them on emerging construction technologies and church policies on building.
- o. Efforts shall be made to assist the completion of some major PENSA institution projects.

- p. Standard/prototype building drawings will be adopted for the construction of buildings for the various PENSA branches based on congregational size and location.
- q. All assemblies will be encouraged to complete statutory requirements for their church buildings and register their church buildings as a place of worship with the local authorities.
- r. Purchasing of strategic lands by areas, districts and local assemblies for future use shall be encouraged.

4.3.11General Headquarters Administration and Finance

i. Overview

The General Headquarters administration and the finance function, represent a crucial part of the organisational support structure of The Church of Pentecost, given the church's centralised system of administration. This calls for a rather pragmatic approach to improve upon the administration and the finance functions. It involves discovering, dreaming, designing and delivering a robust administration and finance system that can withstand contemporary challenges of organisational structures. Further, it will not only identify what needs to be done but more specifically, a detailed design of how the transformation and equipping could be achieved.

Specific objective: To improve the administration and the finance functions to a level that can withstand contemporary challenges of organisational structures.

- ii. Actions to be taken: Headquarters Administration
- We will be committed to ensuring all Headquarters staff and management exhibit Christian values in their work.

- Periodic tailor-made training programmes will be offered to staff to promote high level of professionalism in their work.
- c. We will review and update the administrative manual of the Headquarters to improve efficiency in operations.
- d. We shall endeavour to maintain optimum staff numbers for the headquarter's operations.
- e. The Headquarters Administration will periodically pay working visits to sub-sectors of the church to inspect work being done by these institutions.
- f. We will strengthen the Audit, Monitoring and Evaluation capacity of the church at all levels including the Audit, Monitoring and Evaluation Unit to facilitate the continuous assessment of the achievement of set targets of the vision document.

iii. Finance

- a. The church will discourage over ambitious projects that do not meet the value for money criteria.
- b. The church will be committed to a purposeful plan to budget expenditure purely within the income anticipated to be generated within a particular year.
- The church's financial manual will be reviewed to help replicate controls in financial administration in the areas, districts and locals.
- d. The church will be committed to ensuring that development funds (LDF and DDF) are released for their originally intended purposes at the local and district

- levels. This is to curtail the practice of aggregating such funds by some districts and areas for infrastructural development.
- e. Efforts will be made to ensure that the designated percentage of the Areas' Internally Generated Funds (IGF) to be released to the districts is reviewed from time to time to reflect the financial strengths of the Area.
- f. A percentage of the Areas' designated IGF for the Districts will be set aside as scholarship funds to sponsor students to PUC. Apart from developing the human capital of the church, this initiative will also contribute to increasing enrolment of the University and as well help with its financial stability.
- g. The headquarters will create a fund that will be allocated to evangelism as a way of mainstreaming the financing of evangelism. The Areas and districts will also be encouraged to make budgetary allocations for evangelism.
- h. Area Audit, Monitoring and Evaluation teams shall be given periodic training to enhance their operations.

4.3.12 Tertiary Educational Support for Ministers' Children

i. Rationale

The church has instituted various educational supports, such as scholarships for members who qualify. When it comes to employees of the church, the headquarters' conditions of service provide for one-off educational support for children of

staff who enter tertiary institutions every year. It is evident that this educational support to staff mitigates the financial pressure, as a result of the increasing cost of tertiary education on the parents, particularly when the children are entering tertiary institutions for the first time.

It has, however, been noticed that this important educational intervention is not extended to children of ministers of the church. This apparent gap, if filled could ease the yearly financial pressure on ministers who may have to contract loans from the church and banks to finance the entry-point of their children's education. The proposal, therefore, seeks to reduce this financial pressure on ministers, and again reduce the demand for loans from the church when schools re-open. The proposal, in terms of financing, could also be managed within the church's annual budget because of its 'one-off' nature.

The purpose of this proposal is to supplement educational expenses of children of ministers of The Church of Pentecost who enter tertiary institutions for the first time. Definition of tertiary institution is a post-Senior High School Institution.

For effective implementation, conditions as noted below may apply:

ii. Eligibility

- a. A minister's child means either biological or legally adopted child of the minister.
- b. The child should not be more than 23 years and they should not be married at the time of accessing the fund.
- c. There should be evidence that the child has gained admission to an accredited tertiary institution.

- d. It should be the first time the child is entering tertiary institution. It does not include children who have already entered tertiary institution, and for some reason discontinued, and wish to enter again.
- e. If two or more children of a minister qualify to enter tertiary institution in a particular year, only one child will qualify for the educational support for that year.
- f. The support scheme does not apply to Ministers' wards who gain admission into foreign schools.
- g. The scheme will be for ministers who may need it.

iii. Mode of Application

- a. Applications shall be made to the General Secretary's Office, through the Area Heads.
- Application should reach the General Secretary's Office early enough before the school re-opens or the programme begins.

iv. Maximum Amount and Mode of Payment

- a. The Finance Board will determine based on published fees for first year students in the public schools each year, the maximum amount to be paid for each child that qualifies for support under this facility. This will consider hostel and other charges.
- b. It must be noted that this is to supplement whatever expenses the minister may have to pay. It is not full payment for the child's education.
- c. Payment shall be made to the Ministers through the Areas upon application.
- d. It will be a one-off payment.

4.3.13 The Executive Council

i. Overview

The Executive Council will continue to serve the church as mandated, wholeheartedly and with integrity in the fear of the Lord.

Specific objective: To continue to render effective and efficient administrative oversight of the church.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. The Executive Council's officially scheduled five (5) main meetings in a year will continue.
- An RCC Coordinator from the External Branches could be invited to attend Executive Council meetings from time to time.

4.3.14 General Council Meetings

i. Overview

The General Council and Extra-ordinary Council Meetings will continue to receive the needed attention and support.

Specific objective: To continue to make the General Council more functional.

ii. Actions to be taken

a. Provision made for heads from external branches to attend General Council Meetings will be reconsidered. In order to reduce the cost of travel, attendance to Council Meetings will be limited to the National Head and one other person.

- b. Reports from the areas and the nations will be properly scrutinised.
- c. A conducive atmosphere will continue to prevail for councillors to contribute freely on the floor.

5.0 IMPLEMENTATION FRAMEWOK

The Vision 2023 document represents a road-map and the specific strategic direction needed by the church to pursue its Possessing the Nations agenda. However, the Vision strategy is just a plan, which addresses the whats and whys of the proposed interventions; it does not guarantee that the desired performance is reached.

After all the work devoted to the articulation of the Vision and the formulation of the appropriate strategies, the most important task of effectively implementing the planned interventions still remains. It is self-evident that the outcomes expected from the implementation of strategies will not materialise until the planned actions are successfully carried out.

The transformation agenda of Vision 2023 undoubtedly demands the efficient and effective implementation of well-designed interventions in order to fulfil the requirements of the Great Commission. The implementation of the Vision will therefore, entail the process of turning the Vision strategies and plans into actions, in order to accomplish the strategic objectives and the desired outcomes. The implementation framework, thus, seeks to move the Vision strategy from ideas and intentions to actions that will drive the Possessing the Nations agenda by addressing the whos, wheres, whens and hows of the proposed interventions. Implementing the Vision strategy is therefore, as important, or even more important, than the Vision strategy itself.

Attached to this document is a detailed implementation framework designed to guide the implementation process.

5.1 Start-Up Activities

The implementation of the Vision strategy will include several different initiatives. The following steps to be implemented immediately, will serve as the base implementation plan, with the necessary modification when necessary to fit the Church's culture and structure.

- a. We shall collect baseline information on outcome indicators.
- Various versions of the Vision Strategy and the Implementation Framework shall be produced for the various functional departments, areas, districts, ministries, boards, committees and training institutions.
- c. We shall establish a scorecard system for tracking and monitoring implementation of the Vision strategy.
- d. We shall roll out the Vision Statement across the entire church.
- All department/ministry/area/district/local annual plans shall be built around the implementation framework of the Vision Strategy.
- f. We shall align budget to annual goals based on financial assessment.
- g. We shall set up periodic strategy meetings with established reporting protocol to monitor the progress of implementation.
- h. We shall set up annual strategic review dates and large group meetings for an annual plan review.

6.0 MONITORING, EVALUATION AND ACCOUNTABILITY FRAMEWORK

The monitoring, evaluation and accountability framework for Vision 2023 is essential for a result-based approach to the implementation of planned interventions for the next five years. It is expected to serve the following functions:

- a. To be a guide for the Vision implementation and management, so that the leadership and members of the church would understand the objectives and targets they are responsible for achieving, and are aware of their progress towards those objectives and targets during implementation;
- To explain in detail how the leadership of the church at all levels will monitor the implementation of planned actions to determine whether the intended outputs are achieved;
- To establish a process to alert leadership at all levels of any problems in the implementation of the Vision strategy and performance, and provide the basis for making the needed adjustments; and
- d. To provide a strategy for measuring longer term objectives (desired outcomes) over time through the evaluation design.

The specific tools and processes that will be deployed as part of the "integrated monitoring and accountability approach" towards the smooth implementation of the Vision strategy shall include Annual Work Plan and Budget, Performance Monitoring Plan, Progress Reporting, Internal Performance Reviews, Beneficiary Contact Monitoring and an Evaluation Design.

7.0 FUNDING VISION 2023

i. Overview

Both biblical and best practices will be adopted by the church to improve its finances to mobilise the needed financial resources for the expected outputs of Vision 2023.

Specific Objective: To improve upon the already existing spirit of sacrificial giving in the church relative to all offerings.

ii. Actions to be taken

- a. The church will be committed to improving tithing through biblical teachings, Bible Studies and other relevant means, to encourage and deepen the spirit of sacrificial giving among the entire membership of the church. This shall be consciously done at least once in a month, preferably during the Lord's Supper week.
- Missions offering shall continue to be promoted in all assemblies to improve members' awareness on raising offering for missions work.
- The church shall be committed to ensuring that designated offerings are given due attention through teachings and awareness creation.
- d. The church will be committed to teaching and maintaining Biblical means of fund mobilisation.
- e. Specific provisions shall be made in the annual budget of the church at all levels to finance the relevant outputs of Vision 2023.
- f. We shall be committed to praying for God to continue to prosper the work of our hands (Ps. 90:17).

- g. We shall be committed to praying for the prosperity of the nations (Jer. 29:7).
- h. We shall be committed to the prudent financial management at all levels of the church.

8.0 APPENDIX 1: TENETS, VISION AND MISSION STATEMENTS OF THE CHURCH OF PENTECOST

8.1 Vision Statement

To become a global Pentecostal church that is culturally relevant in vibrant evangelism, church planting, discipleship and holistic ministry.

8.2 Mission Statement

We exist to establish responsible and self-sustaining churches filled with committed, Spirit-filled Christians of character, who will impact their communities.

8.3 TENETS (BELIEFS)

8.3.1 The Bible

We believe in the divine inspiration and authority of the Holy Scriptures. We believe that the Bible is infallible in its declaration, final in its authority, all-sufficient in its provisions and comprehensive in its sufficiency (2 Ti. 3:16;2 Pe. 1:21).

8.3.2 The One True God

We believe in the existence of the One True God, Elohim, Maker of the whole universe; indefinable, but revealed as Triune Godhead— Father, Son and Holy Spirit. One in nature, essence and attributes; Omniscient, Omnipotent and Omnipresent (Ge. 1:1; Mt. 3:16-17; 28:19; 2 Co. 13:14).

8.3.3 The Depraved Nature of Humanity

We believe that "all have sinned and come short of the glory of God" (Ge. 3:1-19; Is. 53:6; Ro. 3:23), and are subject to eternal punishment (Mt. 13:41, 42; Ro. 6:23), and need repentance (Ac. 2:38; Mt. 4:17; Ac. 20:21) and regeneration (Jn. 3:3, 5; Tit. 3:5).

8.3.4 The Saviour

We believe humanity's need of a Saviour has been met in the person of Jesus Christ (Mt. 1:21; Jn 4:42; Ac. 2:36; Eph. 5:23; Php. 2:6-11), because of His Deity (Is. 9:6; Jn. 1:1; 20:28; Ro. 9:5; Tit. 2:13,14), Virgin Birth (Is. 7:14; Mt. 1:18; Lk. 1:25-27), Sinless Life (Jn 8:46; Heb. 4:15; 2 Cor. 5:21), Atoning death (Ro. 3:25; Heb. 9:22: 1 Jn. 2:2), Resurrection (Mt. 28:5-7; Ac 2:24; Ac. 2:36; 10:39,40; 1 Co. 15:3,4) and Ascension (Ac. 1:9-11; 2:33-36), His Abiding Intercession (Ro. 8:34; Heb. 7:25) and His second coming to judge the living and the dead (Ac.1:11; 10:42; 1 Th. 4:16-18; 2 Ti. 4:1; Rev. 22:12, 20).

8.3.5 Repentance, Regeneration, Justification and Sanctification

We believe all humanity have to repent and confess their sins before God (Lk. 15:7; Ac. 2:38; 3:19; 17:30), and believe in the vicarious death of Jesus Christ before they can be justified before God (Ro. 4:25; 5:1). We believe in the sanctification of the believer through the working of the Holy Spirit (1 Co. 1:30; 6:11) and God's gift of eternal life to the believer (Jn. 17:2, 3; 10:27, 28; Ro. 6:23b; 1 Jn. 5:11-13).

8.3.6 The Ordinances of Baptism and the Lord's Supper or Communion

We believe in the ordinance of Baptism by immersion as a testimony of a convert who has attained a responsible age of 13 years (Mt. 3:16; Mt. 28:19; Mk. 1:9, 10; 16:16; Ac. 2:38). Infants and children are not baptized, but are dedicated to the Lord (Mk. 10:13-16; Lk. 2:22-24, 34). We believe in the ordinance of the Lord's Supper or Holy Communion, which

should be partaken by all members who are in full fellowship (Lk. 22:19, 20; Ac. 20:7; 1 Cor. 11:23-33).

8.3.7 Baptism, Gifts and Fruit of the Holy Spirit

We believe in the baptism of the Holy Spirit for believers with the initial evidence of speaking in tongues (Joel 2:28, 29; Ac. 2:3, 4, 38, 39; 10:44-46; 19:1-6); and in the operation of the gifts and the fruit of the Holy Spirit in the lives of believers (1 Co. 12:8-11; Rom. 12:6-8; Gal. 5:22, 23).

8.3.8 Divine Healing

We believe that the healing of sickness and disease is provided for God's people in the atonement. The Church is, however, not opposed to soliciting the help of qualified medical practitioners (2 Ki. 20:7; Mt. 9:12; Lk. 10:34; Col. 4:14).

8.3.9 Tithes and Offering

We believe in tithing and in the giving of free-will offerings towards the cause of carrying forward the Kingdom of God. We believe that God blesses a cheerful giver (Ge. 14:18-20; 28:20-22; Ml. 3:6-10; Mt. 23:23; Ac. 20:35; 1 Co. 16:1-3; 2 Co. 9:1-9).

8.3.10 The Second Coming and the Next Life

We believe in the Second Coming of Christ and the Resurrection of the dead, both the saved and the unsaved – they that are saved, to the resurrection of life; and the unsaved, to the resurrection of damnation (Mk. 13: 26; Da. 12:2; Jn. 5: 28-29; Ac. 1:11; 10:42; Ro. 2:7-11; 6:23).

8.3.11 Marriage and Family Life

 between a man as husband and a woman as wife, as biologically defined. We believe that God instituted marriage primarily for companionship, and for procreation and the godly nurture of children, to enable them find the security of love and growth in the heritage of faith (Ge.2:18; 21-25; Mt.19:4-6; 1 Cor.7:1,2).

9.0 APPENDIX 2: INDICATORS TO GUAGE THE CONTRIBUTION OF **VISION 2023 TO NATIONAL LEVEL INDICATORS**

| Expectation of a Transformed Society ¹ | Corresponding National Indicator | Indicator Definition | Baseline Level | Source |
|--|---|---|---|---|
| Society free from negative behaviours or vices | Ghana's score and ranking on the global Corruption Percention Index (CPI) | Perceived levels of public sector | A score of 41out of a possible score of 100 | 2018 Corruption Perception Index reported |
| Society where Christ-like behaviours are displayed | | determined by expert assessments and | Ranking of 78 out of | International |
| Increase in godliness in the society i.e. people of integrity | | opinion surveys. The CPI generally defines corruption as the "micrico of public power." | 1/5 countries (2018) | |
| Considerable reduction in corruption | | for private benefit" | | |
| Godliness in the society | | | | |
| Society free from negative behaviours or vices | Incidence of physical violence against women and men | See definition below | Women: 8.9% (2015) | Ministry of Gender, Children and Social Protection Domestic |
| Society where Christ-like behaviours are displayed | | | Men: 10.2% (2015) | Violence in Ghana (July 2016) |
| Reduction in crime rate and social vices such as teenage pregnancy, smoking and rape cases | | | | |
| A society whose members are law-abiding citizens | | | | |
| Godliness in the society | | | | |

¹ Collated from the workshop on the Implementation Framework for Vision 2023 held for Ministers/wives and Officers of the Asokwa Area, Kumasi (unless otherwise stated).

| Society free from negative behaviours or vices Society where Christ-like hehaviours are displayed | Incidence of sexual violence against women and men | See definition below | Women: 10.6% (2015) Men: 9.5% (2015) | Domestic Violence in Ghana (July 2016) |
|--|---|---|--|--|
| Reduction in crime rate and social vices such as teenage pregnancy, smoking and rape cases | | | | |
| A society whose members are law-abiding citizens | | | | |
| Society free from negative behaviours or vices Society where Christ-like behaviours are displayed Reduction in crime rate and social vices such as teenage pregnancy, smoking and rape cases A society whose members are law-abiding citizens Godliness in the society | Incidence of domestic violence | Women and men experiencing domestic violence in the form of physical or sexual violence | Women: 28% (2015) Men: 20% (2015) | Ministry of Gender, Children and Social Protection, Domestic Violence in Ghana (July 2016) |

| Society free from negative behaviours or vices | Teenage Pregnancy Rate | See definition below | 14% (2014) | Ghana Statistical Service/Ghana Health Service Demographic and |
|---|-----------------------------|----------------------|--------------|--|
| Society where Christ-like behaviours are displayed | | | | Health Survey, 2014 |
| Reduction in crime rate and social vices such as teenage pregnancy, smoking and rape cases | | | | |
| Reduced teenage pregnancy and increased education of the youth | | | | |
| Godliness in the society | | | | |
| Society free from negative behaviours or vices | Theft, robbery and burglary | See definition below | 27.9% (2013) | Ghana Statistical Service, GLSS Round 6, Governance, Peace and |
| Society where Christ-like behaviours are displayed | | | | Security, August 2014 |
| Reduction in crime rate and social vices such as teenage pregnancy, smoking and rape cases. | | | | |
| A society whose members are law-abiding citizens | | | | |
| Godliness in the society | | | | |

 $^{\rm I}$ Captured from the Vision 2023 document $^{\rm 2}$ Captured from the Vision 2023 document

| Improved sanitation | Disposal of rubbish and liquid Percentage of | Percentage of | 52.4% (2013) | Ghana Statistical Service, |
|--|---|---|--------------|--|
| A society whose environment is clean | | dispose of their rubbish by taking it to a public | | Report, 2014 |
| Environmental degradation and pollution should be stopped | | عارة ط | | |
| A clean environment | | | | |
| A clean society where waste is well managed | | | | |
| Sanitation or environmental cleanliness has been stepped up in the society | | | | |
| Improved sanitation and environmental care | | | | |
| The church will be actively involved in the discipling of the | Extent of consideration of the Percentage of adult people's views before laws population who thin | Percentage of adult population who think | 46.3% (2013) | Ghana Statistical Service, GLSS Round 6, |
| nation's existing governance structures (executive, judiciary | are changed | that the government never takes their views | | Governance, Peace and Security, August 2014 |
| and legislature) and corporate and social institutions with | | into account before changing laws | | |
| values and principles of the | | n n | | |
| Kingdom of God¹ | | | | |

¹ Captured from Vision 2023 document

| establish public schools at strategic places to enable the poor have improved access to education.¹. We will partner Government to improve facilities in our Senior High Schools in Kumasi and Koforidua.². We shall explore the possibility of establishing an educational unit to manage our schools.³. | Educational attainment | Ine present educational levels of the adult population as well as availability of skilled manpower for various types of economic activity. | 44.6% have attained a level below Basic Education Certificate Examination (BECE) (2013). 21% of the population has MSLC/BECE (2013) 14.7% have acquired Secondary/Senior Secondary School (SSS) or Senior High School (SHS) or a population of the population has been defined as the population has been defined by the population of the pop | Ghana Statistical Service, GLSS Round 6, Main Report, 2014 |
|--|--|---|--|--|
| We shall explore the possibility of establishing a health unit to manage our health facilities ⁴ . We shall commit ourselves to upgrading and expanding the facilities at the Pentecost Hospital in Madina to offer improved services ⁵ . We shall partner government to put up Community-based Health Planning and Services (CHPS) | General health status of all household members | Household members who reported suffering from an injury or illness in the past two weeks and consulted a health practitioner for health care. | 66.2% | Ghana Statistical Service, GLSS Round 6, Main Report, 2014 |

¹ Captured from Vision 2023 document
² Captured from Vision 2023 document
³ Captured from Vision 2023 document
⁴ Captured from Vision 2023 document
⁵ Captured from Vision 2023 document

- 1. Physical violence Slapping, pushing, shoving, hitting, kicking, dragging or throwing objects at someone; choking, strangling or burning someone; using a weapon, hazardous chemicals or substances against someone; or kicking or pulling someone's external genitalia (for male respondents only).
- 2. Sexual violence acts of unwanted sexual comments or physical contact; rape by physical force, or otherwise forced sex (for instance, by blackmail or threats); a sexual partner hiding their HIV status; sexual acts or intercourse that were performed on the basis of feeling there was no option; or penetration with an object against someone's will.
- **3. Teenage Pregnancy** the percent distribution of women age 15-19 who have given birth or were pregnant with their first child at the time of the survey, according to background characteristics.
- **4. Theft, robbery and burglary** household members who experienced theft, stealing or attempted stealing during the last five years (since 2008). Overall, about one-quarter of respondents (27.9%) indicated that they had been victims of stealing or attempted stealing.
- 5. Household access to utilities and sanitation facilities the proportion of households using potable water and adequate toilet facilities and having access to electricity.

APPENDIX 3: THE M&F WORK PLAN AND TIMING OF ACTIVITIES

| TASK | МНО | | | | | PE | SIOD ! | WITHIN | PERIOD WITHIN THE YEAR | EAR | | | | |
|------------------------------|-------------------------|---------|-----|-----|-----|-----|---------|--------|------------------------|-----|------|-----|----------------|-----|
| | | FREQ | JAN | FEB | MAR | APR | APR MAY | 3NNE | JULY | AUG | SEPT | OCT | NOV | DEC |
| Baseline Data Collection | Selected COP | 1 | | | × | | | | | | | | | |
| | Personnel | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Annual Work Planning and | Implementing | | | | | | | | | | | | × ₂ | × |
| Budgeting | Ministries, | П | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Departments, | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Institutions, etc. | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Progress Reporting | Implementing | | × | | | × | | | × | | | × | | |
| | Ministries, | 4 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Departments, | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Institutions, RCCs etc. | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Internal Performance Reviews | Implementing | | × | | | × | | | × | | | × | | |
| | Ministries, | 4 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Departments, | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Institutions, etc. | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Verification Checks on Area | Selected COP | 2 | | | | | × | | | | | | × | |
| Reports/Beneficiary Contact | Personnel | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Monitoring | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Effectiveness (Outcome) | Selected COP | 1^{2} | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Evaluation | Personnel | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

¹ Baseline data collection will take place in March 2019
² The work planning and Budgeting for 2019 will be completed by the end of December, 2018
³ The 4th quarter progress report to be submitted in January the following year
⁴ The internal performance review for the 4th quarter to be held in January the following year
⁵ Update of baseline information/follow up evaluation at the end of 2020 and by June 2023